Diurnal Variations in Nitrate Concentrations in the Cobb Mill Creek, VA

Wendy Marie Robertson Charlottesville, VA

Bachelors of Science, Jackson School of Geological Sciences, The University of Texas at Austin, 2006

A Thesis presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Master of Science

Department of Environmental Sciences

University of Virginia August 2009

#### Abstract

Nitrate is the most pervasive and ubiquitous global contaminant of ground and surface waters. Ninety percent of the anthropogenic input of nitrate in to the environment comes from fertilizer application, with the United States alone applying 12.5 million tons of fertilizer between 2003 and 2006. High nitrate concentrations in ground and surface waters can have a deleterious effect on both human health and on the ecological systems of impacted areas.

One mircobially driven process by which nitrate is removed from the environment is denitrification; organic carbon oxidation coupled to nitrate as a terminal electron acceptor, a process which can occur in organic-rich streambed sediments. In low relief coastal watersheds, groundwater with high concentrations of nitrate (~20 mg/L nitrate as N) discharge to streams through the zone of denitrification in these streambed sediments. The resulting concentration of nitrate in the streamwater can vary dependent upon many factors including the residence time of the discharging groundwater in the zone of denitrification. Evapotranspiration (ET) in the forested riparian zone surrounding the stream can potentially alter the water table gradient, which, in turn, causes the residence time of groundwater in the zone of denitrification to vary by 1 to 14 hours diurnally.

In the Cobb Mill Creek watershed, VA, multiple 72-hour field events were undertaken to monitor weather conditions, streamwater levels, and streamwater chemistry in order to quantify the effects of ET in the riparian zone on the streamwater flow and chemistry. Estimates of potential evapotranspiration (PET) for the riparian zone of Cobb Mill Creek have been calculated to be as much as 0.5-0.9 mm per hour between 11:00 and 15:00. During the June 2008 monitoring event, stream stage at the creek varied diurnally by an average of 6 cm, and nitrate concentrations varied diurnally by 2.7 mg/L nitrate as N, with a minimum nitrate concentration of 2.9 mg/L nitrate as N at 12:00 on the 26th of June, and a peak nitrate concentration of 6.5 mg/L nitrate as N at 00:00 on the 28th of June.

The pattern and timing of the diurnal variations in both stream discharge and nitrate concentrations observed in Cobb Mill Creek are unique among currently published observations. Within the Cobb Mill Creek watershed during periods of evapotranspiration there exists a diurnal variation in stream discharge which peaks daily near the time of peak calculated evapotranspiration. The patterns of nitrate concentrations of the streamwater are sinusoidal in shape with a greater magnitude of variation than had been previously modeled or recorded and do not coincide with any expected pattern in potential evapotranspiration or stream discharge. These revelations raise significant questions about the validity of current grab sample practices for the monitoring of reactive contaminants within watersheds.

### **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	xi
Acknowledgements	xii
Chapter 1: Introduction	13
Overview	13
Effects of Excessive Nitrate on Human Health and Ecological Systems	14
Pathways of Removal of Nitrate from the Environment.	15
Environmental Factors which can Affect Denitrification.	18
Spatial Distribution of Organic Matter	18
Variability in Groundwater Discharge	19
Effects of Evapotranspiration in the Riparian Zone on Denitrification	21
Research Questions and Goals	26
Chapter 2: Site Description and Methods	27
Site Description.	27
Monitoring of Hydrological Conditions	
Sampling Campaigns and Locations	34
Sample Collection and Processing	36
Chemical Analysis	38
Chapter 3: Results	41
Stream Stage and Discharge	41
Streamwater Chemical Composition	47
Background Conditions	47
Conditions During Diurnal Variation	49
Chapter 4: Discussion	56
Magnitude and Timing of Diurnal Variations in Stage and NO <sub>3</sub>	-
Concentrations	56
Magnitude of Diurnal Variations	56
Timing of Diurnal Variations	57
	-
Unapter 5: Ideas for Future Kesearch	/8

Works Cited	82
Appendix A: Land Use within the Cobb Mill Creek Watershed	87
Appendix B: Standard Curves for Streamwater Chemistry Analysis	90
March Ion Chromatography	90
May Ion Chromatography	92
June and August Ion Chromatography	94
August Pond Cl <sup>-</sup> Using ISE	96
Dissolved Organic Carbon	96
Appendix C: Streamwater Chemistry Results	
March 2008 Streamwater Chemistry	
May 2008 Streamwater Chemistry	100
June 2008 Streamwater Chemistry	104
August 2008 Streamwater Chemistry	107
Appendix D: Equations used in PET Calculations	111
Appendix E: Groundwater Seepage Meter Results	114
Appendix F: May 2008 Stream Stage and Discharge and Hillslope Water Table Monitoring Results	118

## List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Conceptual model of the discharge of high-nitrate groundwater through the zone of denitrification. Adapted from Robertson et al. (2008)18
Figure 1.2	Conceptual model of how evapotranspiration in the riparian zone alters the effectiveness of denitrifying bacteria removing nitrate from discharging groundwater. Not to scale. From Robertson et al. (2008)25
Figure 2.1	Location of the Cobb Mill Creek Watershed on the Eastern Shore of Virginia
Figure 2.2	Aerial overview of Cobb Mill Creek
Figure 2.3	Locations of piezometer and stilling well installations at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA
Figure 3.1	Rating curve for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek41
Figure 3.2	Comparison of the stilling well stage records from the culvert (top) and hillslope (bottom) at Cobb Mill Creek, VA from September 1, 2005, to September 7, 2005
Figure 3.3	Stream stage measured every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – March 25-31, 2008
Figure 3.4	Stream discharge calculated every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – March 25-31, 200844
Figure 3.5	Stream stage measured every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – June 25-28, 200845
Figure 3.6	Stream discharge calculated every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – June 25-28, 200845
Figure 3.7	Stream stage measured every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 20-23, 2008
Figure 3.8	Stream discharge calculated every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 20-23, 200847
Figure 3.9A-B	Hourly $NO_3^-$ (top) and $Cl^-$ (bottom) concentrations in the streamwater at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – March 27-29, 200848

Figure 3.10A-	B Hourly NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater at the Culvert (top) and hillslope (bottom) locations of Cobb Mill Creek – June 25-28, 2008
Figure 3.11A-	B Hourly Cl <sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater at the Culvert (top) and hillslope (bottom) locations of Cobb Mill Creek – June 25-28, 2008
Figure 3.12A-	B Hourly NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater at the Hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek (top is scaled 0-8 mg/L NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> , bottom is scaled 4.6-6.2 mg/L NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> to display the diurnal variation in concentration) – August 20-23, 2008
Figure 4.1	Spectral Density analysis of the March 25-31, 2008, stage record from the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA
Figure 4.2	Spectral Density analysis of the June 20-30, 2008, stage record from the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA
Figure 4.3	Spectral Density analysis of the August 18-22, 2008, stage record from the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA
Figure 4.4	Graph of the log <sub>10</sub> of actual and forecasted stage values plotted with 95% confidence intervals for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – March 25-31, 2008
Figure 4.5	Graph of the log <sub>10</sub> of actual and forecasted stage values plotted with 95% confidence intervals for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 20-30, 2008
Figure 4.6	Graph of the log <sub>10</sub> of actual and forecasted stage values plotted with 95% confidence intervals for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 18-22, 2008
Figure 4.7	Twenty-four hour clock plotting the timing of daily maxima and minima in stream stage height in the Cobb Mill Creek VA, $(0 = \text{midnight})$ for 28 days during June-August, 2008
Figure 4.8	Graph of calculated hourly PET (mm) for the forested riparian zone of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 25-28, 2008. PET unites are in millimeters of water demand by the forest vegetation

Figure 4.9	Graphs of the 5 point running averages of Cl <sup>-</sup> concentrations from the June 2008 culvert (top), June 2008 hillslope (middle), and August 2008 hillslope (bottom) streamwater sampling campaigns70
Figure 4.10	Graphs of the 5 point running averages of NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> concentrations from the June 2008 culvert (top), June 2008 hillslope (middle), and August 2008 hillslope (bottom) streamwater sampling campaigns
Figure 4.11 A	-B: Twenty-four hour clocks plotting the timing of daily maxima and minima in NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> concentrations at the (A) culvert sampling location June 25-28, 2008, and at the (B) hillslope sampling location June 25-28, 2008, and August 20-23, 2008
Figure A.1	Land use within the Cobb Mill Creek watershed
Figure A.2	Land use adjacent to Cobb Mill Creek in a 10 m zone around the stream channel
Figure B.1	Standard curve for March Cl <sup>-</sup> concentrations; linear fit90
Figure B.2	Standard curve for March NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> concentrations; linear fit91
Figure B.3	Standard curve for March $SO_4^{2-}$ concentrations; linear fit91
Figure B.4	Standard curve for May Cl <sup>-</sup> concentrations; linear fit
Figure B.5	Standard curve for May NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> concentrations; linear fit93
Figure B.6	Standard curve for May $SO_4^{2-}$ concentrations; linear fit
Figure B.7	Standard curve for June and August Cl <sup>-</sup> concentrations; quadratic fit94
Figure B.8	Standard curve for June and August NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> concentrations; quadratic fit95
Figure B.9	Standard curve for June and August $SO_4^{2-}$ concentrations; quadratic fit95
Figure B.10	Standard curve for August Pond Cl- concentrations using ISE, linear fit
Figure B.11	Standard curve for DOC concentrations; linear fit

Figure C.1	Grab sample anion concentrations for the pond outlet location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – March 27-29, 2008
Figure C.2	Hourly SO <sub>4</sub> <sup>2-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater from the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – March 27-29, 2008100
Figure C.3	Hourly Cl <sup>-</sup> , NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> , and SO <sub>4</sub> <sup>2-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater from the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – May 28-31, 2008
Figure C.4	Grab sample Cl <sup>-</sup> , NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> , and SO <sub>4</sub> <sup>2-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater from the pond location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – May 28-31, 2008103
Figure C.5	Hourly SO <sub>4</sub> <sup>2-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater from the culvert (top) and hillslope (bottom) locations of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 25-28, 2008
Figure C.6	Grab sample DOC concentrations for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 25-28, 2008106
Figure C.7	Grab sample DOC concentrations for the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 25-28, 2008106
Figure C.8	ISE measured hourly Cl- concentration in the streamwater at the pond outlet location of Cobb Mill Creek, Va – August 23-25, 2008107
Figure C.9	IC measured anion concentrations for the streamwater at the pond outlet location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 23-25, 2008108
Figure C.10	Hourly Cl <sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater from the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 20-23, 2008109
Figure C.11	Hourly SO <sub>4</sub> <sup>2-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater from the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 20-23, 2008110
Figure E.1	Figure E.1: Depiction of a seepage meter placed into the streambed sediments and collecting groundwater discharge. Modified from Flewelling (2009)
Figure E.2	Graph of the number of samples collected from the groundwater seepage meters deployed at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – June 26-29, 2008

Figure E.3	Graph of the nitrate concentrations from seepage meter #40 deployed at the hillslope location in Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 26-29, 2008117
Figure F.1	Stream stage measured every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – May 28-31, 2008118
Figure F.2	Stream discharge calculated every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – May 28-31, 2008119
Figure F.3	Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the hilltop monitoring well at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 23-November 8, 2008
Figure F.4	Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the hilltop monitoring well at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – September 15-20, 2008120
Figure F.5	Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the N11 piezometer at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 23-November 8, 2008
Figure F.6	Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the N11 piezometer at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – September 15-20, 2008121
Figure F.7	Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the N13 piezometer at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 23-November 8, 2008
Figure F.8	Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the N13 piezometer at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – September 15-20, 2008122

## List of Tables

Table 4.1	Table displaying the time periods sampled for stream stage maxima and minima and the amount of precipitation in the Cobb Mill Creek, VA watershed during the sampled dates – Summer, 200863
Table C.1	Table of average DON and $NH_4^+$ concentrations for samples taken at the pond and hillslope locations at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 20-23, 2008

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my committee, Janet Herman, Aaron Mills, George Hornberger, and Todd Scanlon for their effort and guidance during this process. Thanks to the Keene lab and especially to John Maben and Susie Maben for their help with both anion and DOC analysis. Thanks also to Margot Miller for analytical assistance and to Kathleen Overman for helping in supporting the field activities connected to this research. Funding for this research was in part supplied by a fellowship through Graduate Assistance in Areas of National Need (GAANN) funded by the U.S. Department of Education award number P200A030055 (P.I. Teresa Culver) and by a research assistantship, accommodations and logistical support for field campaigns through the National Science Foundation Long-Term Ecological Research (LTER) award DEB 0621014 to the Virginia Coast Reserve site (P.I. Karen McGlathery). Pre-existing field infrastructure was funded by a National Science Foundation grant EAR 0208386 (P.I. Aaron Mills).

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### Overview

The study of nitrate contamination in ground and surface waters around the globe is a topic of great importance. Nitrate is the world's most pervasive groundwater contaminant (Korom, 1992; Spalding and Exner, 1993) and affects 40% of the rivers and 57% of the estuarine systems in the United States alone (EPA and USDA, 1998). Nitrate is introduced into the environment is by three primary sources: nitrogen fixation during lightning strikes, the burning of fossil fuels, and the use of nitrogen based fertilizers. Fertilization practices associated with agriculture accounts for 90% of the anthropogenic input of nitrate into the environment (Galloway and Cowling, 2002) and between 52 and 61% of the total input of nitrate into the environment (Galloway et al., 1995).

The most widespread and persistent problem associated with nitrate is the contamination of both ground and surface waters of agricultural areas as a result of fertilization practices. In 1931 the Haber-Bosch process, which allows for the large scale production of synthetic ammonia, was introduced. This process allowed for the inexpensive production of ammonium nitrate fertilizers as an alternative to organic fertilization processes. The use of these inorganic nitrogen-based fertilizers has become the primary choice of the majority of farming communities, especially since the end of World War II (Smil, 1997). Ammonium nitrate fertilizer allows for intensive high-yield agriculture practices that enable farmers to greatly increase the crop volume per unit area of land farmed (Evans, 1996). As a result, there has been a world-wide increase in the volume of fertilizers used (Galloway and Cowling, 2002). During the time period between 2003 and 2006, the United States alone used 12.5 million tons of nitrogen-based

fertilizers (Wiebe and Gollehon, 2006). Due to these types of fertilization practices, the concentrations of nitrate in the groundwaters of many of these agricultural areas exceed the US EPA drinking water limit of  $10 \text{ mg NO}_3^-$  -N L<sup>-1</sup>, some by as much as double or more (Denver et al., 2003). The excessive amount of nitrate in water resources can potentially have deleterious effects on both human health and on the ecological systems of impacted areas.

#### Effects of Excessive Nitrate on Human Health and Ecological Systems

Studies of human health effects of nitrate in drinking water have suggested that exposure can have both acute and long-term health effects (Ward et al., 2005). The foremost concern for acute high-level nitrate exposure is methemoglobinemia, a disorder caused by the binding of nitrite to hemoglobin. After ingestion, nitrate is reduced to nitrite in the digestive system. The nitrite binds to hemoglobin which prevents oxygenation of the blood and tissue and can be fatal. In recent years, concerns have been raised about the health effects of long-term low-level exposure to nitrate (Ward et al., 2005). Preliminary studies have linked habitual consumption of water containing nitrate to colon and other cancers (DeRoos et al., 2003; Gulis et al., 2002; Sandor et al., 2001; Weyer et al., 2001) and potentially to issues with reproductive health (Croen et al., 2001).

Excessive nitrate can also cause serious problems in ecological systems such as eutrophication of surface waters. Nitrate serves as a nutrient for plant growth in agricultural systems, but it also serves the same purpose in water bodies. Under normal conditions in fresh water systems, nitrate is a nutrient of limited availability, which can, in part, limit the growth of plants and algae. When excess nitrate is introduced to the surface water, algal blooms can occur. These bursts of algal growth are accompanied by the eventual death of the algae. As the algae die, bacteria that respire organic carbon using oxygen as an electron acceptor experience an exponential growth as a result of the large increase in availability of an energy source. The bacteria rapidly use up all of the available oxygen in the environment, creating "dead zones," areas of hypoxic or anoxic conditions where oxygen-based life cannot be sustained (Hill, 1997).

#### Pathways of Removal of Nitrate from the Aquatic Environment

Nitrate can be removed from groundwater through two main pathways: assimilation into biomass and microbially driven denitrification processes. Nitrate is taken up by vegetation and assimilated into the cells of all types of plant life (Imsande and Touraine, 1994). This assimilated nitrate is sequestered for as long as the plant is alive, eventually being returned to the environment upon the death or consumption and subsequent elimination of the plant material.

During denitrification, denitrifying bacteria use organic carbon as an energy source and nitrate as an electron acceptor in systems with low levels of oxygen (Freeze and Cherry, 1979).

$$5 \text{ CH}_2\text{O} + 4\text{NO}_3^- + 4\text{H}^+ - > 2\text{N}_2 + 5\text{CO}_2 + 2\text{H}_2\text{O}$$
 (1.1)

The bacteria responsible for the denitrification process are ubiquitous in the environment (Knowles, 1982) but only denitrify under specific conditions. Most denitrifiers are facultative anaerobes, meaning they preferentially use oxygen as an electron acceptor and only switch to  $NO_3^-$  when oxygen is no longer available. In order for the denitrification process to occur, an aqueous system must contain an available energy source, low dissolved oxygen concentration, and ample nitrate.

Denitrification is a process observed occurring in many different natural settings. Chen et al. (1972) estimated that up to 63% of the nitrate input into anaerobic lake bottom sediments was removed via denitrification. Bacteria capable of denitrification have been found in aquifer systems around the globe (Korom, 1992), and have been demonstrated by Korom et al. (1991a) and Trudell et al. (1986) to actively denitrify *in situ* in the presence of organic carbon as an energy source in oxygen-depleted groundwaters. Laboratory experiments in water-logged soils have demonstrated that rates of denitrification are dependent upon dissolved oxygen concentrations (Patrick and Reddy, 1976). Denitrification can also occur within the water column of oceanic waters in regions with low levels of dissolved oxygen (Knowles, 1982) and in the water column of lakes (Seitzinger, 1988), but the efficiency of denitrification in the water column is often dwarfed by the capacity for denitrification within anoxic sediments (Seitzinger, 1988).

Forested riparian zones especially have a heightened capacity to remove nitrate from the environment, both via uptake and assimilation by vegetation (Lowrance et al., 1984) and via denitrification processes in riparian soils in comparison to riparian zones with crops or grassland cover. Cooper (1990) estimated that between 56-100% of the nitrate loss in the headwaters of a small agricultural watershed was the result of denitrification in organic rich riparian soils. The capacity of riparian zones to remove nitrate can be altered dependent upon different conditions. Hill et al. (2000) examined the spatial variability of denitrification in the groundwater beneath the riparian zone, concluding that the variability in the presence of organic matter within the sediments could enhance or decrease the removal of nitrate in the groundwater along the flow path. Seasonal variability of *in situ* denitrification rates has also been observed, ranging from 3 to 78 mg/L nitrate per square meter of soil from the summer to the winter seasons in the forested riparian zone (Pinay et al., 1993).

Studies examining the role of streambed sediments in the denitrification process have observed that streambed sediments can potentially remove 40% of the initial nitrate from discharging groundwater (Hill, 1983) dependent upon the initial groundwater nitrate concentration. Observations by Mulholland et al. (2008) have demonstrated that the capacity of streambed sediments to denitrify is related to the initial nitrate concentration so that higher initial concentrations of nitrate cause the total amount of nitrate remove to be higher. However, the effectiveness of the streambed sediments to denitrify is reduced when the initial groundwater nitrate concentration is increased so that more nitrate is left unaltered when the initial concentration is elevated.

For a gaining stream, groundwater with high nitrate concentration discharges to the stream through streambed sediments typically containing mats of organic matter such as decaying leaves (figure 1.1). Colonies of denitrifying bacteria residing in these organic matter rich streambed sediments utilize the  $NO_3^-$  from the discharging groundwater, converting it to  $N_2$  gas, removing the nitrate from the discharging groundwater (Knowles, 1982). The area, or "zone of denitrification," in which the denitrification process occurs in sediments tends to be distributed heterogeneously (in both thickness and presence) throughout the lateral extent of the stream channel dependent upon the presence of organic matter in the streambed sediments.



Figure 1.1: Conceptual model of the discharge of high-nitrate groundwater through the zone of denitrification. Adapted from Robertson et al. (2008).

#### **Environmental Factors Which Can Affect Denitrification**

#### Spatial Distribution of Organic Matter

The effectiveness of the denitrifying bacteria in the zone of denitrification within streambed sediments in denitrifying discharging groundwater depends upon factors such as the distribution of organic matter and the rate of groundwater discharge. Cook and White (1987) demonstrated that the variability in the spatial distribution of organic matter in the streambed sediments can alter the amount of nitrate removed from discharging groundwater in small agricultural catchments. Not all streambed sediments in studied watersheds have demonstrated the capacity to denitrify discharging groundwater. Some studies have observed that some groundwaters discharging through streambed sediments remain chemically unaltered (Bohlke and Denver, 1995; Denver et al., 2003).

Studies of "hotspots" of denitrification in streambed sediments have documented the spatial variability in denitrification due to changes in the organic matter content, permeability, and discharge rates of groundwater through the zone of denitrification (Cooke and White, 1987; Hill et al., 2000; McClain et al., 2003). Laboratory and *in situ* experiments measuring denitrification rates in streambed sediments have revealed a complex relationship between these three factors: decreased discharge rates through streambed sediments do not directly translate to increased denitrification, however organic matter in the sediment column both provides an energy source for denitrification and tends to decrease permeability (Hill et al., 2000) which decreases discharge rates. The spatial variation of these factors combines to create heterogeneous denitrification rates which can complicate the study of nitrate variability in surface waters.

#### Variability in Groundwater Discharge

Residence time of groundwater in the zone of denitrification is altered by discharge rates and has been observed to have a significant effect on nitrate removal (Hill, 1988). Typically, in systems with readily available organic carbon sources the denitrification process is modeled as a 1<sup>st</sup> order reaction (Boyer et al., 2006):

$$[NO_3^{-}]_t = [NO_3^{-}]_0 * e^{-kt}$$
(1.2)

where  $[NO_3^-]_t$  is the nitrate concentration at a time t after the reaction starts,  $[NO_3^-]_0$  is the initial concentration of nitrate in the system, k is a rate coefficient, and t is time. The amount of nitrate removed from a volume of water in the denitrification process is

dependent upon that volume of water's residence time in the zone of denitrification. This residence time is a function of the rate of discharge of the groundwater to the stream:

$$\mathbf{t}_{\mathrm{r}} = \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{r}} / \mathbf{Q} \tag{1.3}$$

where  $t_r$  is the residence time,  $V_r$  is the volume of saturated sediment through which the water is traveling (length<sup>3</sup>), and Q is the discharge (length<sup>3</sup>/time).

In the environmental setting of an unconfined aquifer and where physical properties such as the permeability of the sediments are constant, the rate of groundwater discharge can be changed by altering the head gradient. Discharge through such a system can be calculated using Darcy's Law (Freeze and Cherry, 1979):

$$Q = KA dh/dL$$
(1.4)

where K is the hydraulic conductivity (length/time), A is the cross sectional area of the flow tube (length<sup>2</sup>), dh is the finite change in total head (length), and dL is the finite change in length of the flow path (length). When the hydraulic conductivity remains unchanged and the flow path length and cross sectional area are held constant, change in discharge results from change in the total head. In an unconfined aquifer system, total head at a location in the system can be approximated by the elevation head, or height of the water table above the elevation of the discharge location.

The head gradient in a watershed can be altered in both transient and prolonged ways that can affect the discharge rate of groundwater and, by extension, the effectiveness of the zone of denitrification to remove nitrate from the environment. Discharge to streams is altered by transient storm events (Gu et al., 2008a) and limited research has examined the relationship of changing discharge rate to the extent of denitrification in small intact cores of streambed sediments rich with organic matter (Gu et al., 2007; Hill, 1988).

#### Effects of Evapotranspiration in the Riparian Zone on Denitrification

Evapotranspiration (ET) is the process by which vegetation uses water through a combination of evaporative loss to the atmosphere and photosynthesis. The amount of water the vegetation uses is known as evapotranspirative demand and is measured in units of length. Most vegetation has both seasonal and diurnal periods of growth and dormancy or death dependant upon the availability of water and sunlight. During seasons when vegetation is actively evapotranspiring water (most dominantly the summer), a diurnal variation in demand arises from the change in availability of sunlight from day to nighttime. In systems with shallow water tables (Butler et al., 2007), evapotranspirative demand of water translates to a drawdown of the water table beneath vegetation because as the vegetation forces water to be pulled upward from the water table into the unsaturated zone to replace the water taken up by the vegetation (Loheide et al., 2005) thereby lowering the water table.

Seasonal patterns and diurnal variations in head gradient and discharge as a result of evapotranspiration (ET) by vegetation in the riparian zones of streams have been linked to the seasonal activity of ET in watersheds (Czikowsky and Fitzjarrald, 2004). In 1932, White (1932) observed the relationship between ET and variation in depth to water table and Loheide et al. (2005) used diurnal variations in water table depth to estimate the use of groundwater by plants. During baseflow conditions, diurnal variations in river discharge have been attributed to the effects of ET in a California watershed (Troxell, 1936).

Because vegetation is dormant during the fall and winter seasons, the water table is not drawn down by evapotranspirative water demand. This dormancy causes an overall higher water table during baseflow conditions than is seen during seasons with active evapotranspirative demand (Czikowsky and Fitzjarrald, 2004). In seasons when vegetation is active, it uses water during the daylight hours and becomes dormant during the night hours, so the drawdown of the water table is based upon a demand that varies diurnally (Loheide et al., 2005; White, 1932). This diurnal change in water demand changes the head gradient of the water table in a cyclical pattern, which alters discharge cyclically.

Diurnal variations in stream stage and discharge attributed to evapotranspiration within a watershed had been documented for river systems of multiple sizes. Lundquist and Cayan (2002) observed a diurnal variation in discharge on the order of 10-40% in 100 watersheds of varying size in the western United States which they hypothesized to be a result of evapotranspiration. In two studies performed in a small ( $<10 \text{ km}^2$ ) watershed in Japan, Kobayashi et al (1995; 1990) measured a diurnal variation in discharge on the order of 50 to 100% (from an average discharge of ~0.015 m<sup>3</sup>/s) and Burt (1979) noted a diurnal variation in stream discharge of between 50 and 100% (from an average discharge of ~0.002 m<sup>3</sup>/s) during baseflow conditions in a small ( $<1 \text{ km}^2$ ) watershed, which he attributed to the effects of evapotranspiration on the water table gradient.

Lundquist and Cayan (2002) reported that the shape of the diurnal variations attributed to evapotranspiration had characteristically slow rising limbs and sharp declines in a saw-tooth pattern. In two studies, Kobayashi et al. (1990; 1995) reported the shape of their observed diurnal variation in discharge was sinusoidal. Burt (1979) reported very spiked diurnal variations with v-shaped peaks and troughs. The timing of the diurnal variations in stream discharge was examined by Wondzell et al. (2007) in order to quantify the presence of a lag between peak evapotranspiration and minimum in stream discharge. The amount of lag between peak ET and the minimum stream discharge was observed to vary between as little as 1-2 hours to as much as over 24 hours dependent upon the rate of stream discharge. Wondzell et al. (2007) made field observations as well as constructed a simulation model that predicted that low discharge rates, either during periods of very low flow or due to small catchment size, resulted in increased lag time between maximum evapotranspirative demand and minimum stream discharge.

Seasonal variations in nitrate fluxes have been observed in small agriculturally dominated catchments, and variations have been hypothesized to occur on diurnal cycles as well. In a first order stream on the Atlantic Coastal Plain, nitrate loads during baseflow periods in the winter were much greater than those observed during the summer seasons (Angier and McCarty, 2008). The diurnal control of ET in the riparian zone on the effectiveness of streambed denitrification has been hypothesized in small agriculturally dominated catchments (Denver et al., 2003), but to date very few experimental data are available to support this hypothesis. In a small agricultural watershed with a forested riparian zone such as investigated by Flewelling (2009), the conceptual model for how ET in the riparian zone affects the concentration of nitrate in groundwater discharging to the stream operates is illustrated in figure 1.2. Based upon the observed conditions in the small agriculturally dominated coastal watersheds of Denver et al. (2003), Flewelling (2009) developed a one dimensional model for denitrification in the Cobb Mill Creek watershed, a small agricultural watershed, in which he modeled a diurnal variation in nitrate concentrations of discharging groundwater ranging from 0.4 to 0.6 mg/L. The model considered ET driven changes in discharge and residence time of groundwater as factors affecting the extent of denitrification. Scholefield et al. (2005) measured diurnal variations in nitrate concentrations of streamwater whose daily excursions from the mean nitrate concentration was on the order of 30% from a mean concentration of  $\sim 1 \text{ mg/L}$ .



Figure 1.2: Conceptual model of how evapotranspiration in the riparian zone alters the effectiveness of denitrifying bacteria removing nitrate from discharging groundwater. Not to scale. From Robertson et al. (2008).

The extent of denitrification is expected to be influenced by evapotranspiration. During time periods of evapotranspiration, the water table is drawn down, lowering the head gradient of the water table. A smaller gradient reduces the rate of discharge of the groundwater to the stream, increasing residence time in the zone of denitrification and increasing the opportunity for denitrifying bacteria to remove nitrate from the discharging groundwater. When evapotranspiration is not occurring, the water table rebounds (Gribovski et al., 2008), increasing the head gradient of the water table. With the increase in gradient, the rate of discharge increases, decreasing the residence tine in the zone of denitrification and decreasing the opportunity for denitrifying bacteria to remove nitrate from the discharging groundwater.

#### **Research Questions and Goals**

In light of the speculation over the presence and magnitude of hypothesized diurnal variations in nitrate concentrations of groundwater discharging to streams in small agricultural catchments, the question this research addresses is:

# Is there a measurable diurnal variation in nitrate concentrations in the streamwater of Cobb Mill Creek, VA, a low order stream in a small agricultural watershed?

The goals of this research are to determine and quantify the presence and magnitude of any diurnal variation in nitrate concentration in the streamwater of Cobb Mill Creek, VA. I hypothesize that evapotranspiration by vegetation in the riparian zone of the stream in this small agricultural watershed is causing diurnal variation in nitrate concentrations of the discharging groundwater and thus the stream itself. To test this end, three 72 hour field excursions were undertaken; one during a time period when no evapotranspiration was expected to be occurring in the riparian zone, and two during time periods of expected evapotranspiration.

#### **Chapter 2: Site Description and Methods**

#### **Site Description**

The Cobb Mill Creek watershed is located on the southern end of the Delmarva Peninsula, near the town of Oyster, Virginia (figure 2.1). The watershed is approximately 4.96 km<sup>2</sup> in area. The creek drains east into Oyster Harbor and towards the seaside lagoons. Overall, the Cobb Mill Creek watershed is typified by low topographic relief. At two locations in the watershed the creek is impounded for agricultural use, creating two ponds. Both ponds are near the headwaters of the main stream, and one pond flows directly downstream into the other. The outlet of the second pond forms the main channel of Cobb Mill Creek downstream from both impoundments. Cobb Mill Creek is a gaining stream with the majority of its flow downstream of the pond outlets resulting from the discharge of groundwater into the stream channel. Average rainfall in the catchment is ~1000 mm/year (Krovetz et al., April 1989 to 2008) with the 2007/08 water year having 837.4 mm.



Figure 2.1: Location of the Cobb Mill Creek Watershed on the Eastern Shore of Virginia.

The near-surface sedimentary layers underlying the Cobb Mill Creek watershed are largely composed of unconfined sands, silts, and clays (Trapp and Meisler, 1992) with interbedded organic matter prominent in low-lying areas and stream channels and are part of the shallow unconfined Columbia aquifer system. The soils in the Cobb Mill Creek watershed are largely sandy loams in the upland areas and loamy sands along the creek itself (Gu, 2007). Beneath these soils lies the unconfined Columbia aquifer system, with a thickness of ~8-20 m in the region of the Cobb Mill Creek watershed (Trapp and Meisler, 1992). The aquifer consists mainly of unconsolidated sands and gravel, and has a measured hydraulic conductivity ranging from 5.5 x  $10^{-4}$  to 1.5 x  $10^{-7}$  m/s (Gu, 2007).

The main channel of Cobb Mill Creek at the upper reaches of the watershed is a man-made channel draining agricultural fields with some surface water input from a forested wetland. Above the first pond, the tributaries to the stream are primarily a series of tile drains from agricultural fields. The upper pond is approximately 130 m long by 15 m wide and drains to the lower pond through culverts beneath a sand berm dam. The lower pond is approximately 180 m long by 20 m wide and drains to the stream channel through an outlet in the sand and shell dam located at the southern end of the pond. Between the second pond and the culvert at Route 600, the Cobb Mill Creek riparian zone is typically a low-relief wooded wetland, 5-40 m wide from the center of the channel on either side of the stream. Downstream of the culvert at Route 600, the north bank of the stream increases in relief, with the 10-80 m wide riparian zone occupying a hillslope of 1-4% gradient. The riparian zone along the south bank of the stream continues as a low-relief wooded wetland of 10-80 m in width. The trees in the forested riparian zones abutting the stream are approximately 60% deciduous and 40% coniferous.

Roughly 64% of the land in the catchment is being used for agricultural purposes (*i.e.*, fertilized land) based upon the 2001 National Land Cover Data set (appendix A). Crops commonly grown in the watershed include corn, wheat, soy beans, cotton, and green beans. Land use abutting the stream banks is approximately 25% agricultural, 21% non-forested wetland (grassy wetland and marsh), and 54% forested land as determined by categorizing the land use in a zone reaching out 10 m on both sides of the stream channel using the 2008 Virginia Base Mapping Program ortho-imagery aerial photographs (2 foot resolution) (Glendon, 2008, appendix A). For details on how these estimates were determined, refer to appendix A.

Concentrations of nitrate in the groundwater of the Cobb Mill Creek watershed have been recorded in the range of  $10-20 \text{ mg NO}_3^-$ -N L<sup>-1</sup>, resulting from a combination of contamination of the groundwater by fertilizer from the agricultural areas of the

watershed and the oxic conditions in the groundwater as it moved through the watershed (Galavotti, 2004). Streamwater concentrations of nitrate in Cobb Mill Creek vary widely (1-8 mg  $NO_3^-$  -N L<sup>-1</sup>) dependent upon seasonal, diurnal, and stream stage variations in the watershed.

#### **Monitoring of Hydrological Conditions**

Water table levels, stream stage, discharge, and weather conditions were monitored throughout the Cobb Mill Creek watershed using both temporary and permanent installations. Flow from the outlet of the pond has been monitored on a sporadic basis since 1999 to develop an estimate of the volume of water contributed to the stream as surface water from the pond. Periodic measurements by Flewelling (2009) used flow velocity at the surface and an estimate of the channel geometry to calculate flow. In August 2008, a temporary flume was installed in the pond outlet channel to measure flow (location A, figure 2.2). A Levelogger<sup>™</sup> pressure transducer was placed in the stilling well of the Parshall flume to continuously monitor water depth in the flume. Hand measurements of water depth were also made four times per day to calibrate the transducer results.

Stream stage has been monitored at the culvert beneath Route 600 since 2000 using a stilling well installation ~3 m downstream of the double barreled culvert (location B, figure 2.2). A Levelogger<sup>TM</sup> pressure transducer has been deployed in the stilling well at the culvert to record stream stage and temperature every ten minutes. A rating curve has been established at this point and was used to calculate the stream discharge.

The hillslope location is a 20 meter long stretch of Cobb Mill Creek downstream of Route 600 in the forested riparian zone on the north bank (location C, figure 2.2). The

hillslope is ~80 m wide with a topographic gradient of 3-4%. It has been outfitted with several permanent installations to monitor water table levels and stream stage. A stilling well installed at the upstream end of the hillslope has Barologger<sup>TM</sup> and Levelogger<sup>TM</sup> pressure transducers deployed to monitor barometric pressure in the watershed and stream stage at the hillslope. Both take measurements every ten minutes of pressure (stage) and temperature.



Figure 2.2: Aerial overview of Cobb Mill Creek. Ortho-imagery taken from the 2008 Virginia Base Mapping Program.

Depth to the groundwater table has also been monitored at the hillslope location using pressure transducers located in a series of piezometer installations extending up to the top of the hillslope (figure 2.3) (Gu, 2007). N13 is a piezometer approximately 3 m from the stream bank and driven to a depth of 2.98 m. A Levelogger<sup>TM</sup> pressure transducer monitors temperature and depth to the water table every ten minutes from August 2008 to present. Further up the hillslope, N11 is a monitoring well driven to a depth of 4.58 m with a Levelogger<sup>TM</sup> pressure transducer monitoring water table depth and temperature every ten minutes from August 2008 to present. At the top of the hillslope, the hilltop monitoring well (Hilltop) is driven to a depth of 5.95 m with a Levelogger<sup>TM</sup> pressure transducer monitoring of the hillslope piezometers are reported in Appendix F.

Weather conditions in the Cobb Mill Creek watershed have been monitored at a series of weather stations in the area (figure 2.2). Air temperature, precipitation, and wind speed were monitored at the Oyster Weather station (OYSM). Solar radiation data were taken from two monitoring stations: the N<sub>2</sub>O flux monitoring station (FMS) and the Hog Island weather station (HOGI) located approximately 30 km from the Cobb Mill Creek watershed.



Figure 2.3: Locations of piezometer and stilling well installations at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA. Ortho-imagery taken from the 2008 Virginia Base Mapping Program. Contours are labeled in feet above sea level.

#### **Sampling Campaigns and Locations**

Three 72 hour sampling campaigns were undertaken during the spring and summer seasons of the year 2008 in order to determine the presence and magnitude of diurnal changes in stream stage and water chemistry. During the sampling campaigns a range of data was collected at the pond, culvert, and hillslope sampling locations including stream stage, water table levels, as well as streamwater samples analyzed for major anions, DOC, and DON concentrations. All sampling campaigns occurred at baseflow conditions, when no rainfall had been recorded at the OYSM weather station for at least 48 hours prior to the start of the sampling campaign. The March event was

34

undertaken during a period with no leaves on the trees in order to establish baseline conditions within the stream and the watershed in the absence of evapotranspiration by the riparian zone vegetation. The subsequent sampling campaigns were conducted during periods of time with leaves on the trees and expected active evapotranspiration in order to quantify the effects which evapotranspiration might have on the physical and chemical properties of the streamwater. Water samples were taken at three locations within the watershed: at the outlet of the second (down-gradient) pond, immediately upstream of where the creek crosses beneath Route 600, and at the hillslope (figure 2.2). The Cobb Mill Creek hillslope location is a ~20 m stretch of the stream in the non-tidally influenced stretch of the stream ~200 m east (downstream) of Route 600 (figure 2.2). Water samples were collected from the stream channel approximately half way through this 20m stretch.

The sampling campaign used to establish baseline conditions within Cobb Mill Creek (CMC) and the CMC watershed occurred from 00:00 March 27, 2008, to 23:00 March 29, 2008. The most recent rainfall event recorded prior to the sampling campaign was 9.91 mm on March 16, leaving 11 days to allow the system to return to baseflow conditions before sampling began. A small rainfall event of 0.76 mm in the watershed was recorded from 02:00 to 04:00 on March 29<sup>th</sup>, however, the event was small enough that it did not impact the baseflow conditions in the watershed. During this sampling campaign, stream stage was monitored at the culvert location, an ISCO automatic sampler was deployed to collect hourly streamwater samples at the hillslope location, and grab samples were taken every four to eight hours at both the pond outlet and hillslope locations. The first summer sampling campaign with riparian-zone vegetation fully leafed out occurred from 17:00 June 25, 2008, to 16:00 June 28, 2008. Prior to the June sampling campaign, a 1.02 mm rainfall event was recorded on June 22. A larger (10.16 mm) rainfall event occurred on June 17<sup>th</sup>, which allowed 7 days for the system to return to baseflow conditions from the previous rainfall event of notable magnitude to the start of the sampling campaign. No rainfall was recorded between June 25 and June 29. During the June sampling campaign, stream stage was monitored at the culvert location, ISCO automatic samplers were deployed to collect hourly streamwater samples at the culvert and at the hillslope, and grab samples were taken every four hours at both the culvert and hillslope locations.

The final summer sampling campaign occurred from 10:00 August 20, 2008, to 09:00 August 23, 2008. Prior to the August sampling campaign, a 5.33 mm rainfall event was recorded on August 15<sup>th</sup>, which allowed 5 days for the system to return to baseflow conditions. No rainfall was recorded between August 20 and August 23. During the August sampling campaign, stream stage was monitored at the culvert location and ISCO automatic sampler were deployed to collect hourly streamwater samples at the pond outlet and at the hillslope.

#### **Sample Collection and Processing**

Grab samples were collected every six hours (except at midnight) during the March 2008 sampling campaign and were collected every six hours (including midnight) during the June 2008 sampling campaign. Samples were collected in the center of the channel within 2 m of the ISCO automatic sampler's intake. Clear Whirl-Pak<sup>™</sup> bags (1.4 L) were used to collect the samples. Bags were filled with 800-1000 mL of
streamwater, leaving ~400-600 mL headspace of air. The bagged samples were placed in coolers and immediately taken to the field lab for processing.

Two ISCO automatic samplers were deployed during our field sampling campaigns. The ISCO automatic samplers were programmed to draw a 500 mL sample of streamwater hourly for a 24 hour period three times during each of the 72 hour sampling campaigns. In order to collect a sample representative of the water column of interest, the intake hose of the ISCO was placed as close to the center of the stream channel (or in the case of the pond, the outlet) as possible. The 24 ISCO sample bottles were lined with clear 1.4 L Whirl-Pak<sup>TM</sup> bags which were replaced with new bags daily during the reset time in order to eliminate the need to acid wash the sample bottles. After daily sample collection, the bagged samples were placed in coolers and immediately taken to the field lab for processing.

Samples analyzed for anion concentrations using ion chromatography (IC) were pulled from both the grab and ISCO sample sets. An aliquot of 45 mL was pulled from the sample using a syringe which had been rinsed 3-5 times with water purified by reverse osmosis (RO) and three times with sample. The aliquot was filtered through a 0.45 µm sample-rinsed filter into three 2 mL glass autosampler vials for IC analysis and one 25 mL plastic scintillation vial for backup storage. Additional samples were collected from some of the ISCO samples for analysis of CI<sup>-</sup> concentrations using an ion specific electrode (ISE). These samples were kept in Whirl-Pak <sup>TM</sup> bags and were left unfiltered.

Samples analyzed for dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations were pulled from the grab samples only in order to limit the gap in time between collection and processing. Two aliquots of 40 mL were pulled from the sample using a single syringe which had been rinsed five times with RO water and three times with sample. The aliquots were filtered through a 0.45-µm sample-rinsed filter into two 40 mL amber vials. Each sample was acidified to a pH of ~2-3 with 0.78 mL of 85% H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>.

After processing in the field lab, the IC and DOC samples were refrigerated at 5 °C until transport back to the analytical lab. The samples were transported on ice and refrigerated at 5 °C until analysis. The IC samples were analyzed within two months of collection and processing. The samples analyzed for DOC were analyzed within one week of collection and processing. The samples analyzed for Cl<sup>-</sup> using the ISE were kept un-refrigerated in coolers at ~23 °C and analyzed 10-14 days after collection.

Samples analyzed for dissolved organic nitrogen (DON),  $NH_4^+$ , and  $NO_2^-$  were taken from some of the ISCO samples. An aliquot of 30-40 mL was pulled from the sample using a syringe which had been rinsed 3-5 times with RO water and three times with sample. The aliquot was filtered through a 0.45 µm sample-rinsed filter into two 25 mL clear Whirl-Pak<sup>TM</sup> bags. The samples were frozen to a temperature of -80 °C at the field lab, transported back to the analysis lab on ice and stored in a freezer until analysis. The samples were analyzed within 3 months of collection.

#### **Chemical Analysis**

Anion analysis was performed using two different methods; ion chromatography (IC) for major anions and the use of an ISE for Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations. All IC samples were analyzed with standards for Cl<sup>-</sup>,  $NO_3^{-}$ , and  $SO_4^{2-}$  in concentrations of 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, 5.0, 10.0, 20.0, and 40.0 mg/L. Blanks of the RO water from both the field and analytical labs were also analyzed. Samples were run in triplicate, with the three 2 mL IC vials

being randomly assigned a value of A, B, and C for each sample. The 25 mL vial of additional sample was kept in reserve to be used in case of a need for a re-run. The samples from the March 2008 sampling campaign were analyzed using a Dionex IC consisting of a Gilson 234 auto-sampler, Dionex<sup>TM</sup> IC and guard columns, and a Kipp and Zonen BD41 paper strip chart recorder. All standard curves and sample concentrations were measured by hand. Standard curves for Cl<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> had r<sup>2</sup> values greater than 0.967, using linear regression (figures B.1 – B.3, appendix B). The samples from the June 2008 and August 2008 sampling campaigns were analyzed using a Dionex ICS 3000 IC consisting of a Gilson<sup>TM</sup> 231 auto-sampler with a 401 dilutor, Dionex<sup>TM</sup> IC and guard columns, and a computer software program called Chromeleon<sup>TM</sup> v. 6.80, which calculated standard curves and sample concentrations. Standard curves for Cl<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> had r<sup>2</sup> values greater than 0.964 bigs are analyzed using a guadratic fit regression (figures B.4 – B.6, appendix B).

Measurements of Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration in the August 2008 pond samples were performed using an Orion<sup>TM</sup> ISE for Cl<sup>-</sup> anion. Calibration standards of 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, 25, 40, 50, and 100 parts per million (mg/L) were analyzed with the samples. The standard curve was calculated using the 5-100 mg/L standards because a) the replicate measurements of Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations beneath 5 mg/L are unreliable and cannot be fit to a semi-log calibration curve (Cole-Parmer) and b) none of the samples analyzed contained concentrations of Cl<sup>-</sup> less than 15 mg/L. The standard curve had an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.880, using a linear regression (figure B.7, appendix B).

Analysis of DOC concentrations was performed using a Teledyne-Tekmar<sup>™</sup> Phoenix 8000 TOC Analyzer. Standards with concentrations of 1, 2, 5, 10, and 20 mg/L were analyzed in order to calculate the standard curve. The software program TOC Talk for Phoenix 8000 (version 3.6.385.2) performed the standard curve calculations and reported sample concentration values based upon the standard curves. The r<sup>2</sup> value for the DOC standard curve equals 0.9995 (figure B.8, appendix B). Samples were run in triplicate by pulling three separate aliquots of 10 mL each from a single 40 mL amber vial. The second vial was kept in reserve to be used in case of a re-run. In order to assess the risk of contamination from rinsing the syringes at the field site, sample vials of RO water from the field lab were also processed and analyzed using the same procedure outlined above in order to quantify the amount of DOC present. The DOC concentration data are presented in Appendix C.

Analysis for DON,  $NH_4^+$ , and  $NO_2^-$  was performed by a third party lab using methodology developed by the Virginia Institute of Marine Science (VIMS). Five mL of 1:20 diluted DON sample was combined with 5 mL of a 0.185 molar solution of potassium persulfate in a baked glass ampule to oxidize the DON to nitrate. The samples were autoclaved for 40 minutes and then refrigerated until analysis approximately 2-3 days later. The anion analysis was performed using a Quikchem 8000 (Lachat Instruments) and following the analysis protocol outlined in the method documentation 31-107-04-1-E (Smith and Bogren, 2003). The concentrations of  $NO_2^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  for all samples were below detection limits (lower detection limit of this method is 0.36  $\mu$ M), and the concentration of DON was also negligible (<530  $\mu$ g/L), therefore, other than the reporting of the data in Appendix C, no further discussion of DON will be presented.

## **Chapter 3: Results**

### **Stream Stage and Discharge**

The stage at Cobb Mill Creek has been monitored using stilling well installations at both the hillslope and culvert locations since 2000. Periodic stream gaging during a range of stage levels has resulted in a rating curve for Cobb Mill Creek at the culvert location (figure 3.1) which was used to calculate the discharge measurements for this research.



Figure 3.1: Rating curve for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek

For the period of time between January 2008 and September 2008, the stilling well at the hillslope location was having continual clogging issues, which led to erratic and inaccurate stage measurements. Because the stage record from the hillslope stilling well was so erratic, all of the stage measurements used for calculations in this research were taken from the culvert stilling well. A comparison of the stage measured at the culvert and the hillslope stilling wells from July 2005 to December 2005 demonstrated that while the magnitude of variation was different in each location, the timing of variation was identical (figure 3.2), justifying the use of the culvert stage record as an analog for the hillslope location during the period in 2008 when the field studies discussed in this research occurred and when the hillslope transducer data were clearly compromised.



Figure 3.2: Comparison of the stilling well stage records from the culvert (top) and hillslope (bottom) at Cobb Mill Creek, VA from September 1, 2005, to September 7, 2005.

Throughout gathering the baseline data for Cobb Mill Creek during the March 2008 sampling campaign, the stream stage at the culvert location averaged 1.48 masl, with a standard deviation of 0.9 cm (figure 3.3). Average discharge calculated at the

culvert of 0.064  $m^3/s$ , with a standard deviation of 0.004  $m^3/s$  (figure 3.4).



Figure 3.3: Stream stage measured every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – March 25-31, 2008.



Figure 3.4: Stream discharge calculated every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – March 25-31, 2008.

During the June 2008 sampling period, the stream stage at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek ranged from a minimum of 1.38 masl to a maximum of 1.45 masl (figure 3.5). A sinusoidal variation in stage with one maximum and one minimum in each 24-hour time period was observed throughout the sampling period, with an average variation of 5 cm. This periodic behavior in stage variation is taken to be diurnal. The observed minimum stage occurred between 22:00 and 01:00 daily and the observed maximum occurred between 10:00 and 13:00. Stream discharge at the culvert location varied from a minimum of approximately 0.03 m<sup>3</sup>/s to a maximum of approximately 0.05 m<sup>3</sup>/s. The average variation was ~ 0.02 m<sup>3</sup>/s (figure 3.6).



Figure 3.5: Stream stage measured every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – June 25-28, 2008.



Figure 3.6: Stream discharge calculated every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – June 25-28, 2008.

During the August 2008 sampling period, the stream stage at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek ranged from a minimum of approximately 1.37 masl to a maximum of approximately 1.47 masl (disregarding the errant spikes thought to be electrical noise occurring around noon each day) (figure 3.7). A sinusoidal variation in stage with daily maxima and minima was observed throughout the sampling period, with an average variation of 9 cm. The observed minimum stage occurred between 22:00 and 02:00 daily and the observed maximum occurred between 10:00 and 13:00. Stream discharge at the culvert location varied from a minimum of approximately  $0.025 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$  to a maximum of approximately  $0.055 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ . The average variation was ~  $0.02 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$  (figure 3.8).



Figure 3.7: Stream stage measured every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 20-23, 2008.



Figure 3.8: Stream discharge calculated every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 20-23, 2008.

# **Streamwater Chemical Composition**

## **Background Conditions**

During the March 27-29, 2008, sampling campaign, nitrate concentrations at the hillslope averaged 1.8 mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N L<sup>-1</sup>, with a standard deviation of 0.2 mg/L (figure 3.6). The average chloride concentration was 27.25 mg/L, with a standard deviation of 3.97 (figure 3.6). No diurnal variation was observed in either NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> or Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations. The grab samples collected from the pond averaged 0.81 mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N L<sup>-1</sup> +/- 0.06 and 21.92 mg/L Cl<sup>-</sup> +/-0.72 (figures C.7, appendix C).



Figure 3.9: Hourly  $NO_3^-$  (top) and  $Cl^-$  (bottom) concentrations in the streamwater at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – March 27-29, 2008.

# Conditions During Diurnal Variation

The first 72-hour field sampling campaign was undertaken during a period when appreciable evapotranspiration occurred from June 25-28, 2008. At the culvert, nitrate concentrations ranged from a minimum of 2.9 mg  $NO_3^- -N L^{-1}$  to a maximum of 7.5 mg  $NO_3^- -N L^{-1}$ , with an observed diurnal variation of an average of 2.7 mg  $NO_3^- -N L^{-1}$  (figure 3.7). At the hillslope location, observed nitrate concentrations ranged from a minimum of 5.6 mg  $NO_3^- -N L^{-1}$ , with an observed diurnal variation of 5.6 mg  $NO_3^- -N L^{-1}$ , with an observed diurnal variation of an average of 1.7 mg  $NO_3^- -N L^{-1}$  (figure 3.7).



Figure 3.10: Hourly NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater at the Culvert (top) and Hillslope (bottom) locations of Cobb Mill Creek – June 25-28, 2008.

The Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater at the culvert ranged from a minimum of 21.1 mg/L to a maximum of 27.6 mg/L, with an observed diurnal variation of an average of 2.8 mg/L (figure 3.8). The Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater at the

hillslope ranged from a minimum of 21.1 mg/L to a maximum of 29.1 mg/L, with no distinctly observed diurnal variation during the sampling period (figure 3.8). The overall trend of the Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration was to decrease during the 72 hour sampling campaign, with occasional peaks.

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations in the streamwater at the culvert and hillslope locations ranged from 2.3 mg/L to 4.6 mg/L, with no distinct diurnal variability at either location. Complete details of the DOC concentrations are located in appendix C, figures C.4 and C.5.



Figure 3.11: Hourly Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater at the Culvert (top) and Hillslope (bottom) locations of Cobb Mill Creek – June 25-28, 2008.

The second 72 hour field sampling campaign undertaken during a period of expected evapo-transpiration occurred from August 20-23, 2008. During this time

period, the overall nitrate concentration in the streamwater at the hillslope location was higher, with an average of approximately  $5.5 \text{ mg NO}_3^- \text{-N L}^{-1}$  (see figure 3.9), than the average concentrations during the previous two sampling campaigns. The observed variation in nitrate concentration in the streamwater at the hillslope was an average of 0.4 mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N L<sup>-1</sup>, which is a smaller magnitude diurnal variation than was observed during the June sampling campaign (figure 3.7). While the diurnal variation in nitrate concentration in the streamwater at the hillslope location in nitrate concentration in the streamwater and regular. The Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration in the streamwater at the hillslope location was on average 21.9 mg/ L +/- 0.4 mg/L and did not display any diurnal variability (appendix C, figure C.8).



Figure 3.12: Hourly  $NO_3^-$  concentrations in the streamwater at the Hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek (top is scaled 0-8 mg  $NO_3^-$ -N L<sup>-1</sup>, bottom is scaled 4.6-6.2 mg  $NO_3^-$ -N L<sup>-1</sup> to display the diurnal variation in concentration) – August 20-23, 2008.

The NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration in the streamwater coming from the pond was 0 mg/L +/-0.02 mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N L<sup>-1</sup> (appendix C, figure C.7). The concentration of Cl<sup>-</sup> in the streamwater coming from the pond was on average 25.3 mg/L +/- 0.15 mg/L as measured using IC, and 40.8 mg/L +/- 1.9 mg/L as measured using a Cl<sup>-</sup> ISE. Neither displayed a diurnal variability in concentration. Detailed results for both the IC and ISE measured Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations are located in appendix C, figures C.6 and C.7.

The concentrations of dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) and  $NH_4^+$  measured from the grab samples taken at the pond and hillslope locations were both negligible. Detailed results for both DON and  $NH_4^+$  concentrations are located in appendix C figure C.10.

# **Chapter 4: Discussion**

# Magnitude and Timing of Diurnal Variations in Stage and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> Concentrations Magnitude and Shape of Diurnal Variations

Diurnal variations in both discharge and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations are occurring in the streamwater at Cobb Mill Creek. The diurnal variation in discharge observed at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek is as large or larger than the observed diurnal variation in discharge attributed to evapotranspiration in the literature and displays a sinusoidal pattern rather than the more spiked, saw-toothed, and abrupt pattern observed in much of the literature (Burt, 1979; Kobayashi et al., 1995; Kobayashi et al., 1990; Lundquist and Cayan, 2002). In the historical record at Cobb Mill Creek, diurnal variations in stage and discharge have been observed on the order of 20 to 100% from the average during the seasons of active evapotranspiration. During the June 23-25, 2008, sampling campaign the diurnal variations in discharge were measured as 50-100% from the average discharge (approximately  $0.04 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ ) at the culvert and during the August 20-23, 2008, sampling campaign the diurnal variations in discharge were measured as 100% from the average discharge (approximately  $0.045 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ ) at the culvert. The shape of the diurnal variation in stage/discharge at Cobb Mill Creek (both in the historical record and during the sampling periods) is largely sinusoidal with a slightly sharper rising limb and a more gradual receding limb.

Within the body of literature, a few studies have observed diurnal variations in discharge. Burt (1979) observed a spiky variation with v-shaped peaks and troughs whose variation was on order of 50-100% around the average discharge of ~0.0002 m<sup>3</sup>/s. The watershed studied by Burt (1979) was very small (<1 km<sup>2</sup>), with both forested and

agricultural land use, and was prone to flashy responses to change in water table depth. The studies with conditions and responses most like those observed at Cobb Mill Creek were the two performed by Kobayashi et al. (1995; 1990) within the Moshiri basin, a small forested watershed ( $<10 \text{ km}^2$ ) with typically high relief. Kobayashi et al. (1995; 1990) measured a diurnal variation in discharge on the order of 50 to 100% around the average discharge of ~0.015 m<sup>3</sup>/s. The magnitude of diurnal variation and the sinusoidal shape of the discharge record observed by the authors were similar to the discharge conditions observed in Cobb Mill Creek.

#### Timing of Diurnal Variations

Spectral analysis of the stage record at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek during the time periods surrounding the three sampling campaigns revealed regular periodicity of signal in the changes in stage. The stage record was examined from March 25-31, 2008, June 20-30, 2008, and August 18-22, 2008, and was analyzed for periodicity and strength of signal using the spectral analysis routine contained in the software package SAS v. 9.1.3. During the June and August 2008 records, a regular pattern in signal was observed every 144 measurements with a spectral density of 1.4 in June and 4.7 in August, orders of magnitude larger than the second strongest signals during either record (figures 4.2-4.3). Stage record at the culvert location was measured every ten minutes, which translates to 144 measurements per 24 hour time period. No major signal was observed at the 144<sup>th</sup> period during the March 2008 stage record (figure 4.1). There was a signal present at the 72<sup>nd</sup> period in all three stage records, but its magnitude was much smaller (1-1.5 orders of magnitude smaller) than the spectral densities of the signals observed daily during the June and August 2008 records. Because of its timing (approximately every 12 hours) this signal could possibly be a result of tidal influences, but considering the magnitude is much smaller than that of the daily signal, and because 72 is a harmonic of 144, this signal may also be a result of either noise or a residual effect from the spectral analysis procedure. Regardless, there is a clear strong daily signal observed in the stage record of Cobb Mill Creek during baseflow conditions in the season of highest expected evapotranspiration.



Figure 4.1: Spectral Density analysis of the March 25-31, 2008, stage record from the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA.



Figure 4.2: Spectral Density analysis of the June 20-30, 2008, stage record from the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA.



Figure 4.3: Spectral Density analysis of the August 18-22, 2008, stage record from the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA.

Using the ARIMA (auto-regressive integrated moving average) procedure contained within the SAS software v. 9.t1.3, an ARIMA model was also developed for the stage records from March, June, and August 2008. The stage record during both June and August was stationary, as evidenced by the rapid decay of the autocorrelation function, while the results from the autocorrelation function performed on the March 2008 stage record indicated that theses data may be non-stationary. Additionally, an autocorrelation check for white noise revealed that the overall patterns in stage record during all three time periods were not random.

An ARIMA model was fit to all three stage records (figure 4.4-4.6), and observing that the residuals for all three records were sufficiently random, it was determined that no drift was occurring within the modeled results for any of the stage records. The modeled results for the March time period were less accurate overall than that of the modeled results for either the June or August time periods, likely because of the non-stationary nature of the data during that time frame. For both the June and August stage records, the model was more accurate in predicting the up and down slopes in stage than it was at predicting the peaks and valleys of the record, indicating that there may be noise issues associated with the record at these times. The model does successfully depict the stationary nature of the data during these time periods, reflecting that the daily timing of maxima and minima of stage during the ET season remains fairly constant.



Figure 4.4: Graph of the  $log_{10}$  of actual and forecasted stage values plotted with 95% confidence intervals for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – March 25-31, 2008.



Figure 4.5: Graph of the log<sub>10</sub> of actual and forecasted stage values plotted with 95% confidence intervals for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 20-30, 2008.



Figure 4.6: Graph of the  $log_{10}$  of actual and forecasted stage values plotted with 95% confidence intervals for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 18-22, 2008.

To reconfirm the constancy of daily timing of stage maxima and minima and in order to characterize the range in timing of stage maxima and minima throughout the ET season in 2008, three time periods were selected from the record during which little to no precipitation fell in the watershed (to ensure baseflow conditions). Throughout the months of June, July, and August a total of 28 days and 27 nights were selected as a representative for the whole ET season (Table 4.1). The timing of the daily maxima and minima was then recorded and plotted on a 24-hour clock with the percentages of minima and maxima that fell into each hour-long time period (figure 4.1).

Table 4.1: The time periods sampled for stream stage maxima and minima and the amount of precipitation in the Cobb Mill Creek, VA, watershed during the sampled dates – Summer 2008

Time Period	Day Count	Night Count	Precipitation (days)	Precipitation (mm)
June 20-30, 2008	10	10	June 22 <sup>nd</sup> , 2008	1.02
			June 29 <sup>th</sup> , 2008	1.78
July 12-22, 2008	10	10	July 14 <sup>th</sup> , 2008	4.83
August 18-23, 2008	8	7	n/a	0



Figure 4.7: Twenty-four hour clock plotting the timing of daily maxima and minima in stream stage height in the Cobb Mill Creek VA, (0 = midnight) for 28 days during June-August, 2008. The percentage of readings falling within each hour-long interval is written directly on the plot.

While there is some variation (+/- 1.5-2 hours) around a central time, the daily maxima and minima do occur consistently in the same time periods throughout the ET season: 11:00-13:00 for the maxima and 23:00-01:00 for the minima. The timing of the maxima and minima is offset by approximately 12 hours, again indicating a diurnal pattern in stage during baseflow conditions. In contrast, other authors have reported the timing of maxima occurring anywhere between 10:00 - 13:00 (Burt, 1979) and 16:00 - 19:00 (Kobayashi et al., 1990, 1995) and timing of minima occurring anywhere between 18:00 - 22:00 (Burt, 1979) and 04:00 - 08:00 (Kobayashi et al., 1990, 1995). The diurnal patterns observed by Burt (1979) were not regularly offset by 12 hours, likely

because of the flashy response of the studied stream to changes in head gradient. However, the maxima and minima observed by Kobayashi et al., (1995; 1990) in a similarly sized watershed to that of the present study were regularly offset by 12 hours as was observed in Cobb Mill Creek, even though the timing of the maxima and minima does not coincide with the timing observed in Cobb Mill Creek.

To quantify the magnitude and timing of maximum evapotranspirative demand that the forested riparian zone of Cobb Mill Creek could produce, the Priestly-Taylor equation (1972) was used to calculate PET for the time periods during which the sampling campaigns occurred (figure 4.3; see appendix D for the details of the calculations). Based upon the weather data gathered at Cobb Mill Creek (OYSM and HOGI weather stations; figure 2.2) during the sampling campaigns, the daily maxima in PET occurred between 12:00 and 13:00 for both the June and August 2008 time periods.



Figure 4.8: Graph of calculated hourly PET (mm) for the forested riparian zone of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 25-28, 2008. PET unites are in millimeters of water demand by the forest vegetation.

The stream stage/discharge recorded at the culvert (figure 4.7) also peaks during the time of maximum PET (figure 4.8). This concurrence is confounding, because, at first glance, the expectation would be that peak ET would coincide with the minimum discharge because evapotranspiration draws down the water table which would result in a lower head gradient, decreasing the rate of groundwater discharge to the stream. Observations of long lag times between evapotranspirative demand and stream response have been recorded in other systems as well. Wondzell et al. (2007) observed lag times in response of 1 to greater than 24 hours in a small (~1 km<sup>2</sup>) watershed during baseflow conditions. The authors determined that this variation in lag time was attributable to the variation in discharge of the stream. As stream discharge decreased, lag times were

observed to increase (Wondzell et al., 2007). This lag time effect is less observable in the discharge records of larger watersheds with comparable rainfall records due to the increased overall stream flow (Czikowsky and Fitzjarrald, 2004; Lundquist and Cayan, 2002; Troxell, 1936). During the year in which Wondzell et al. performed their study, the observed stream discharge in their watershed ranged from 0.002 - 0.12 m<sup>3</sup>/s. During baseflow conditions in the seasons of active evapotranspiration discharge measured in Cobb Mill Creek at the culvert remains (for the most part) consistently between 0.02 –  $0.05 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ , so it seems to make sense that the timing of the stream discharge in Cobb Mill Creek lags the evapotranspirative demand by about twelve hours because the discharge at Cobb Mill Creek is on the order of that of Wondzell et al. where the authors observed lag times in stream response to water demand of  $\sim 12-16$  hours. Additionally, the magnitude of stream discharge in Cobb Mill Creek is small, so lag times would be greater consistently than those observed in watersheds with greater stream discharge. Also, greater consistency of stream discharge in Cobb Mill Creek would lead to more consistent lag times in the Cobb Mill Creek record than the lag times observed by Wondzell et al. due to the vastly varying baseflow discharge of their stream.

The streamwater chemistry record collected during June and August 2008 was not long enough to attempt either a spectral analysis or an ARIMA model upon, as neither the June nor August sampling campaigns captured three clear maxima and minima. The pattern of variation within the  $NO_3^-$  concentrations observed during the June and August sampling campaigns was similar to that of the established diurnal pattern observed in the stage record for the same time periods. While the timing of maxima and minima in  $NO_3^$ concentrations appeared to lag from day to day and sampling campaign to sampling campaign, there was still a single maximum and a single minimum observed within a single 24 hour period, and thus a diurnal pattern was observed in streamwater  $NO_3^-$  concentrations during the June and August 2008 sampling campaigns.

Seasonal variation in streamwater nitrate concentrations in Cobb Mill Creek varied greatly from March, when there was no evapotranspiration occurring, to June and August, when evapotranspiration was occurring. The average nitrate concentrations in March 2008 were much lower (~2 mg/L) than either June or August, with a combined average around 5 mg/L. Calculated as nitrate load (taking the stream discharge in L/day and multiplying it by the streamwater nitrate concentrations mg/L converted to kg), this is roughly 10.4 kg of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N per day in March 2008, and roughly 17.3 kg of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N per day during June/August. This observation is the opposite of what Angier and McCarty (2008) observed during baseflow conditions within the small, low-relief, agricultural watershed which the authors studied to examine seasonal and long-term variations in  $NO_3$  concentrations. The authors of this study found that nitrate load through their catchment was increased during seasons with no effect of evapotranspiration and they hypothesized that this was, in part, due to a) increased discharge resulting from the absence of ET related water table draw down and b) lack of nitrate uptake by vegetation during its dormant season. In Cobb Mill Creek it is possible that due to more intensive fertilization of the agricultural land within the catchment, overall nitrate load is higher within this watershed than in the watershed studied by Angier and Mcarthy (2008).

The diurnal variations in  $NO_3^-$  concentrations observed during the June study period at Cobb Mill Creek (1.7 - 2.7 mg/L) are an order of magnitude larger than the diurnal variations in  $NO_3^-$  concentrations observed by Scholefield et al. (2005) (0.15 - 0.2 mg/L) and have a vastly different shape in the pattern of the variation -- sinusoidal pattern at Cobb Mill Creek with a single maximum and minimum daily as opposed to saw-toothed with two maxima and minima daily observed by Scholefield et al. So while the Scholefield et al. study demonstrates that diurnal variation in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations is an observable phenomenon in streamwater, there is likely to be very little in common between the factors controlling the diurnal variations within the Scholefield et al. study site and those controlling the diurnal variations in Cobb Mill Creek simply because the responses of the two systems are so very different.

In order to highlight the large scale variations in concentrations and smooth out any small scale fluctuations, a five point moving average was performed on the nitrate and chloride data from the June 2008 culvert and hillslope and August 2008 hillslope streamwater results (Figures 4.9-4.10). For instances where a diurnal pattern could be observed, the timing of the maxima and minima was recorded. In cases where the peaks or troughs were plateaued the middle value was taken as the max/min. While there was variation in chloride concentrations during both the June and August 2008 sampling campaigns at the hillslope, the only distinctly diurnal pattern in chloride concentrations was observed at the culvert location during the June 2008 sampling campaign. The average diurnal variation in chloride concentrations from the same time period (~54% at the culvert and ~41% at the hillslope).



Figure 4.9: Graphs of the 5 point running averages of Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations from the June 2008 culvert (top), June 2008 hillslope (middle), and August 2008 hillslope (bottom) streamwater sampling campaigns.



Figure 4.10: Graphs of the 5 point running averages of  $NO_3^-$  concentrations from the June 2008 culvert (top), June 2008 hillslope (middle), and August 2008 hillslope (bottom) streamwater sampling campaigns.

The timing of the daily maxima and minima in stream NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations in Cobb Mill Creek has been plotted on twenty-four hour clocks for the two primary sampling locations: the culvert (June 2008, figure 4.11A) and the hillslope (June and August 2008, figure 4.11B). For each 72-hour sampling campaign, two or three maxima and minima were captured. Examining these three plots and comparing the timing of the daily maxima and minima, interesting patterns begin to arise. There are distinct diurnal patterns at each location and in each time period but, with the exception of the June 25-28, 2008, sampling at the culvert location, the diurnal patterns in  $NO_3^{-1}$  concentration maxima and minima do not align with the diurnal patterns in stage. At the culvert, which was only sampled in June 2008, the range of times for  $NO_3^-$  maxima align with the range of times for stage minima and the range of times for  $NO_3^-$  minima are largely aligned with the range of times for stage maxima. This alignment is the exact opposite of what would be initially expected because low stage is associated with low discharge (Freeze and Cherry, 1979) and low discharge is associated with increased groundwater residence time (equation 1.3) which increases the opportunity for denitrification to occur (equation 1.4) and results in lower concentrations of  $NO_3^-$  in the water. The above pattern has been documented on the seasonal time scale in watersheds where denitrification processes are occurring in the streambed sediments (Hill, 1988; Pinay et al., 1993). On shorter time intervals such as are being observed in this study, however, these suppositions may not have as much validity, as the hillslope data demonstrate. No clear relationships exist between the timing of stage maxima and minima with the timing of maxima and minima in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations at the hillslope for either the June 2008 or August 2008 sampling campaigns.
73



Figure 4.11 A-B: Twenty-four hour clocks plotting the timing of daily maxima and minima in  $NO_3^-$  concentrations at the (A) culvert sampling location June 25-28, 2008, and at the (B) hillslope sampling location June 25-28, 2008, and August 20-23, 2008. The day of measured samples with maximum and minimum  $NO_3^-$  concentrations for each time period at each location is written directly on the plot in the appropriate one-hour interval in which it was observed.

B)

A)

There is both a lag in the timing of the maxima and minima between the samples collected at the culvert and those collected at the same time at the hillslope as well as a difference in magnitude of the diurnal variation observed between the samples collected at the culvert (average diurnal variation of  $\sim 2.7 \text{ mg NO}_3^- \text{-N L}^{-1}$ ) and the hillslope location (average diurnal variation of  $\sim 1.7 \text{ mg NO}_3^- \text{-N L}^{-1}$ ). The diurnal pattern exhibited by the June 2008 hillslope NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations is offset from that of the culvert NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations by 3-8 hours (figures 4.11A-B). The distance between the two locations is only ~250 m, and the travel time calculated for the stream stretch is ~0.75-2.5 hours at baseflow conditions (Mills, A.L.; personal communication) so this difference in timing cannot be simply explained by a delay in the 'plug' of streamwater traveling downstream from one location to the other. In addition to the difference in magnitude of diurnal variability of the NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations, both the concentration and magnitude of diurnal variation in the samples at the culvert location was higher overall (5.1 mg  $NO_3^{-1}$ -N  $L^{-1}$ ) than at the hillslope (4.2 mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N  $L^{-1}$ ). Furthermore, the nitrate concentration of both the culvert and hillslope samples trended higher over the duration of the sampling period, ending with an overall higher NO<sub>3</sub> concentration in the streamwater than at the beginning.

In-stream processes of nitrate removal have been documented at other experimental sites (Christensen et al., 1990), but the conditions under which those processes can occur are largely absent from Cobb Mill Creek (*i.e.*, presence of algae in the water column). There is also evidence to suggest that while the process of hyporheic exchange can remove nitrate from the water column (Findlay, 1995), this process is not occurring in Cobb Mill Creek because the stream is a predominantly gaining stream throughout the stretch between the culvert and the hillslope locations (Mills, A.L.; personal communication). Denitrification occurs in the sediments along this reach of Cobb Mill Creek (Galavotti, 2004; Gu et al., 2007) with some degree of spatial variability (Flewelling, 2009), so a mixing of groundwaters higher in  $NO_3^-$  concentrations with those lower in  $NO_3^-$  concentrations is occurring along the stream stretch. Groundwater which has had the majority of its nitrate removed prior to discharge to the stream is mixing into the stream with groundwater which experienced relatively little or no denitrification prior to discharge. This spatial mix of waters with varying nitrate concentrations complicates the understanding of how nitrate concentrations vary temporally in the stream.

The timing of the maxima and minima of  $NO_3^-$  concentrations is also not remaining the same temporally. The timing of the maxima and minima in  $NO_3^$ concentrations in June 2008 at the hillslope is offset from those in August 2008 at the same location by 9-11 hours for the maxima (figure 4.11B) and by 4-7 hours for the minima (figure 4.11B). One insight into why this phenomenon is being observed is the way in which the variation in maxima and minima timing is occurring during each sampling period, not just between sampling periods. While the maxima and minima of  $NO_3^-$  concentrations is diurnal in pattern (ie: one maximum and one minimum in a 24 hour period) it is not strictly diurnal such as was observed in stage, where over the course of the season, the maxima and minima were separated by 12 hours +/- 2 hours. Rather, in the case of the variation in  $NO_3^-$  concentrations, there was a separation of 11-14 hours between the maximum and minimum on a given day, but often a greater than 24 hour difference between the timing of the maximum from one day to the next. The timing of the pattern invariably was equal to or greater than 24 hours, and not less. For example, the timing of the maximum  $NO_3^-$  concentrations from the hillslope samples collected during June 25-28, 2008, sampling campaign went as follows: 03:00 on day one, 06:00 on day two (figure 4.10). This pattern also occurred in the maxima of the June 2008 culvert samples and in both the maxima and minima of the August 2008 hillslope samples.

This pattern of "marching" maxima and minima indicates that the variation in timing between August and June moves continually around the clock throughout the ET season rather than remaining in a (relatively) fixed position like the stage variation. One factor which likely controls this effect is the variability in groundwater discharge (and thus residence time in the zone of denitrification) at baseflow conditions, which results from both diurnal and seasonal fluctuations of the water table. A change in water table gradient creates a change in the pressure driving flow along the flow path. Assuming a rigid and incompressible media, this pressure wave is transferred instantaneously along the flow path, but the water itself is not. The result is that the water traveling along a flow path is affected by the pressure changes alters the residence time of a volume of water along both the flow path and in the zone of denitrification. This relationship is more complex than can be encompassed by examining the system as being affected by a single pressure wave.

There is not a rich enough body of literature on observed diurnal variations in  $NO_3^-$  concentrations to go beyond speculation of the processes affecting the temporal variability of diurnal variations of  $NO_3^-$  concentrations in Cobb Mill Creek. The timing and magnitude of the maxima and minima in  $NO_3^-$  concentrations does not directly relate

to the timing or magnitude of either PET or stream discharge. Additionally, the timing of the NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> variation is not displaying a consistent offset between daily maximum and daily minimum. Because there is not exactly a 12 hour separation between the daily maximum and the daily minimum (separation is between 11-14 hours, but it tends to increase from day to day, *i.e.*, day 1, the separation is ~12 hours, day two, the separation is ~13 hours, and so on), the timing of the diurnal variation moves around on the clock. These "marching" maxima and minima appear to continually move around the clock throughout the ET season. For example, if we see a timing difference due to "marching" maxima of 1.5 hours per day, then between June 2008 and August 2008 the maxima and minima would have moved around the clock by ~35 hours, so there would be an 11 hour temporal lag from one sampling campaign to the next. The timing of the observed lag is between 7-11 hours (figure 4.11B), lining up strikingly well with the estimated effect of the "marching" temporal lag.

### **Chapter 5: Ideas for Future Research**

Due to the degree of complexity associated with the denitrification process in the Cobb Mill Creek watershed, it seems very unlikely that a one dimensional model could be legitimately developed to model the diurnal variation of nitrate concentrations in the streamwater of Cobb Mill Creek. The spatial variability of organic matter in and hydraulic conductivity of the sediments leads to varying extents of denitrification of discharging groundwater. The effect of multiple pressure waves (resulting from the continual variation of the head gradient) upon the groundwater along the flow path causes a continual variation of discharge rate, meaning that it would be difficult to quantify a residence time of any significant volume of water within the zone of denitrification. Compounding with both of these factors is the effect of the travel time and mixing of water in the stream channel with discharging groundwater. In fact, the 1-D model of this system by Flewelling (2009) was unable to match the shape, timing, or magnitude of the diurnal variation in nitrate concentrations observed in Cobb Mill Creek.

In light of the facts stated above, the ideal way to model the diurnal variation of both stream discharge and streamwater chemistry in Cobb Mill Creek would be to develop a three dimensional model. A 3-D model could be made to account for the spatial variability of organic matter and hydraulic conductivity of the sediments. It could model the variation of travel time of groundwater along the flow path and it could be made to account for the travel time and mixing along the stream channel itself. Currently, not enough information is known about the Cobb Mill Creek watershed to legitimately parameterize a 3-D model. To that end, I propose several steps of further research in order to be able to effectively model the processes occurring in Cobb Mill Creek:

# Monitoring of local conditions to better quantify evapotranspiration in the riparian zone of Cobb Mill Creek

A station which monitors local net radiation and surface emissivity along with both air and surface temperatures, precipitation, and cloud cover needs to be installed within the Cobb Mill Creek watershed. For the purposes of the research outlined in this document, some of these parameters (solar radiation) had to be taken from a station 17 miles away, and some of these parameters (surface emissivity, surface temperatures, and cloud cover) had to be estimated based upon previous values reported in the literature. Additionally, measurements of leaf area index for the riparian zone of Cobb Mill Creek watershed need to be taken. This value was also estimated from literatures values. Having this type of data for the Cobb Mill Creek watershed could refine the estimates of both seasonal and diurnal water demand of the vegetation within the riparian zone of Cobb Mill Creek, allowing for more accurate estimates of water table drawdown as a result of evapotranspiration.

One to two high intensity 5-6 day sampling campaigns monitoring both rates and streamwater chemistry of groundwater seepage along the stream channel of Cobb Mill Creek

Neither the spatial nor the temporal variability of groundwater seepage rates and chemistry have been extensively quantified for Cobb Mill Creek. Flewelling (2009) deployed some seepage meters in multiple locations along the stream channel between the culvert and hillslope at Cobb Mill Creek to monitor rates of groundwater discharge, but no chemistry was done for these samples and during the sampling, the meters were relocated multiple times in order to gain a greater understanding of spatial variability at the cost of temporal variability. Cox and others (appendix E) measured water chemistry and seepage rates for a small stretch near the hillslope location, but the samples were only collected in 4, 8, or 12 hour intervals which limits their usefulness for quantifying diurnal variability in chemistry and discharge because the resolution simply isn't available. There currently is no water chemistry data available during periods without evapotranspiration occurring in the riparian zone and only limited seepage data.

What needs to occur are two high-intensity field sampling campaigns; one during the dormant season and one during the season of active evapotranspiration, each being five to six days in length in order to attempt to catch the minimum peaks and troughs necessary for completing spectral analysis and ARIMA modeling of the results. Five to ten seepage meters should be deployed within a 5 m stretch of stream channel every 15-20 m from above the culvert all the way to the hillslope. These meters should be monitored for seepage rate and samples should be collected for water chemistry every one to two hours. In addition, streamwater chemistry at both the culvert and the hillslope locations should be monitored hourly using the same ISCO based sampling process outlined in this study.

This high-intensity sampling protocol will be able to account for both the spatial variability of the zone of denitrification and the hydraulic conductivity of the streambed sediments as well as being able to quantify the diurnal and seasonal variability of groundwater discharge rates and water chemistry. These samples would be a major step forward towards the parameterization of the factors affecting diurnal stream discharge

and streamwater chemistry, allowing for a 3-D model which more accurately depicts the processes occurring in Cobb Mill Creek.

Having an accurate 3-D model of the diurnal variation of stream discharge and water chemistry for Cobb Mill Creek would be a worthwhile research endeavor because the presence of any diurnal variability in streamwater chemistry calls to question the current watershed monitoring practices for reactive contaminants. Current practices most commonly involve the use of grab sampling techniques to monitor streamwater chemistry. Grab samples are taken on the frequency of months or weeks and used as a representative sample of the conditions within the watershed. Depending upon the season and time day in which these samples are taken, the concentrations of reactive contaminants can vary greatly, as has been demonstrated by this research. Being able to quantify the timing and magnitude of the diurnal variation in streamwater chemistry is a luxury which most watershed monitoring studies do not have the time or resources to complete. If a model can be developed which predicts the timing and magnitude of diurnal variations in stream discharge and water chemistry for watersheds of comparable size and land use, then perhaps the monitoring process for reactive contaminants can be improved with little additional cost of time and resources.

## **Works Cited**

- Angier, J.T., and McCarty, G.W., 2008, Variations in Base-Flow Nitrate Flux in a First-Order Stream and Riparian Zone: Journal of the American Water Resources Association, v. 44, p. 14.
- Bohlke, J., and Denver, J., 1995, Combined use of groundwater dating, chemical, and isotopic analyses to resolve the history and fate of nitrate contamination in two agricultural watersheds, Atlantic coastal plain, Maryland: Water Resources Research, v. 31, p. 2319-2339.
- Boyer, E.W., Alexander, R.B., Parton, W.J., Li, C.S., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Donner, S.D., Skaggs, R.W., and Del Gross, S.J., 2006, Modeling denitrification in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems at regional scales, v. 16, p. 2123-2142.
- Burt, T.P., 1979, Diurnal Variations in Stream Discharge and Throughflow During a Period of Low Flow: Journal of Hydrology, v. 41, p. 11.
- Butler, J., Kluitenberg, G., Whittemore, D., Loheide, S., Jin, W., Billinger, M., and Zhan, X., 2007, A field investigation of phreatophyte-induced fluctuations in the water table: Water Resources Research, v. 43, p. doi:10.1029/2005WR004627.
- Campbell, G.S., and Norman, J.M., 2000, An Introduction to Environmental Biophysics: New York, USA, Springer-Verlag.
- Chen, R.L., Keeney, D.A., Graetz, D.A., and Holding, A.J., 1972, Denitrification and Nitrate Reduction in Wisconsin Lake Sediments: Journal of Environmental Quality, v. 1, p. 5.
- Christensen, P., Nielsen, L., Sorensen, J., and Revsbech, N., 1990, Denitrification in nitrate-rich streams: diurnal and seasonal variation related to benthic oxygen metabolism: Limnology and Oceanography, v. 35, p. 640-651.
- Cole-Parmer, Laboratory Chloride Ion Electrode Instruction Manual: Vernon Hills, IL, p. 21.
- Cooke, J.G., and White, R.E., 1987, Spatial Distribution of Denitrifying Activity in a Stream Draining an Agricultural Catchment: Freshwater Biology, v. 18, p. 10.
- Cooper, A., 1990, Nitrate depletion in the riparian zone and stream channel of a small headwater catchment: Hydrobiologia, v. 202, p. 13-26.
- Croen, L.A., Todoroff, K., and Shaw, G.M., 2001, Maternal Exposure to Nitrate from Drinking Water and Diet and Risk for Neural Tube Defects: American Journal of Epidemiology, v. 153, p. 7.
- Czikowsky, M., and Fitzjarrald, D., 2004, Evidence of seasonal changes in evapotranspiration in Eastern U.S. hydrological records: Journal of Hydrometeorology, v. 5, p. 974-988.
- Denver, J.M., Ator, S.W., Debrewer, L.M., M.J., F., Barbaro, J.R., Hancock, T.C., Brayton, M.J., and Nardi, M.R., 2003, Water Quality in the Delmarva Peninsula, Delaware, Maryland, and Virginia, 1999-2001, *in* Survey, U.G., ed., USGS Circular: Washington, D.C., US Geological Survey- US Department of the Interior, p. 40.
- DeRoos, A.J., Ward, M.H., Lynch, C.F., and Cantor, K.P., 2003, Nitrate in Public Water Systems and the Risk of Colon and Rectum Cancers: Epidemiology, v. 14, p. 10.

- EPA, U.S., and USDA, 1998, Clean Water Action Plan: Restoring and protecting America's waters, Clean Water Action Plan: Washington D.C., US EPA/USDA.
- Evans, L.T., 1996, Crop Evolution, Adaptation, and Yield: Cambridge; New York, Cambridge University Press, 512 p.
- Findlay, S., 1995, Importance of Surface-Subsurface Exchange in Stream Ecosystems: The Hyporheic Zone: Limnology and Oceanography, v. 40, p. 6.
- Flewelling, S.A., 2009, TBD [Dissertation thesis]: Charlottesville, University of Virginia.
- Freeze, R., and Cherry, J., 1979, Groundwater: Englewood Cliffs, NJ, Prentice-Hall, 604 p.
- Galavotti, H.S., 2004, Spatial Profiles of Sediment Denitrification at the Groundwater-Surfacewater Interface in Cobb Mill Creek on the Eastern Shore of Virginia: Charlottesville, University of Virginia.
- Galloway, J., and Cowling, E., 2002, Reactive nitrogen and the world: 200 years of change: Ambio, v. 31, p. 64-71.
- Galloway, J.N., Schesinger, W.H., Levy, H.I., Michaels, A., and Schnoor, J.L., 1995, Nitrogen Fixation: Anthropogenic Enhancement-Environmental Response: Global Biogeochemical Cycles, v. 9, p. 235-252.
- Gribovski, Z., Kalicz, P., Szilagyi, J., and Kucsara, M., 2008, Riparian Zone Evapotranspiration estimation from Diurnal Groundwater Level Fluctuation: Journal of Hydrology, v. 349, p. 6-17.
- Gu, C., 2007, Hydrological Control on NItrate Delivery Through the Groundwater-Surface Water Interface [Dissertation thesis]: Charlottesville, University of Virginia.
- Gu, C., Hornberger, G., Herman, J., and Mills, A., 2008a, The effects of freshets on the flux of groundwater nitrate through streambed sediments: Water Resources Research, v. 44, p. W05415, doi:10.1029/2007WR006488.
- Gu, C., Hornberger, G.M., Mills, A.L., Herman, J.S., and Flewelling, S.A., 2007, Nitrate Reduction in Streambed Sediments: Effects of Flow and Biogeochemical Kinetics: Water Resources Research, v. 43, p. 10.
- Gulis, G., Czompolyova, M., and Cerham, J.R., 2002, An Ecologic Study of Nitrate in Municipal Drinking Water and Cancer Incidence in Trnava District, Slovakia: Environmental Research, v. 88, p. 6.
- Hill, A., 1983, Denitrification: Its Importance in a River Draining an Intensively Cropped Watershed: Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, v. 10, p. 16.
- Hill, A., 1988, Factors influencing nitrate depletion in a rural stream: Hydrobiologia, v. 160, p. 111-122.
- Hill, A., Devito, K., Campagnolo, S., and Sanmugadas, K., 2000, Subsurface denitrification in a forest riparian zone: interactions between hydrology and supplies of nitrate and organic carbon: Biogeochemistry, v. 51, p. 193-223.
- Hill, M.K., 1997, Understanding Environmental Pollution: Cambridge; New York, Cambridge University Press, 334 p.
- Hornberger, G.M., Raffensperger, J.P., Wieberg, P.L., and Esheleman, K.N., 1998, Elements of Physical Hydrology: Baltimore, The Johns Hopkins University Press, 312 p.

- Imsande, J., and Touraine, B., 1994, N Demand and the Regulation of Nitrate Uptake: Plant Physiology, v. 105, p. 5.
- Knowles, R., 1982, Denitrification: Microbiological Reviews, v. 46, p. 28.
- Kobayashi, D., Kodama, Y., Ishii, Y., Tanaka, Y., and Suzuki, K., 1995, Diurnal Variations in Streamflow and Water Quality During the Summer Dry Season: Hydrological Processes, v. 9, p. 8.
- Kobayashi, D., Suzuki, K., and Nomura, M., 1990, Diurnal Fluctuation in Stream Flow and in Specific Electric Conductance During Drought Periods: Journal of Hydrology, v. 115, p. 10.
- Korom, S.F., 1991a, Denitrification in the Unconsolidated Deposits of the Heber Valley Aquifer [Dissertation thesis]: Logan, Utah State University.
- Korom, S.F., 1992, Natural Denitrification in the Saturated Zone: A Review: Water Resources Research, v. 28, p. 1657-1688.
- Krovetz, D.K., Porter, J.H., Spitler, J.R., and Smith, P.H., April 1989 to 2008, Meteorological Measurements of the Virginia Coast Reserve LTER. Dataset of the Virginia Coast Reserve Long-Term Ecological Research Project VCR97018.
- Loheide, S., Butler, J., and Gorelick, S., 2005, Estimation of groundwater consumption by phreatophytes using diurnal water table fluctuations: A saturated-unsaturated flow assessment: Water Resources Research, v. 41, p. doi:10.1029/2005WR003942.
- Lowrance, R., Todd, R., Fail, J.J., Hendrickson, O.J., Leonard, R., and Asmussen, L., 1984, Riparian Forests as Nutrient Filters in Agricultural Watersheds: Bioscience, v. 34, p. 4.
- Lundquist, J.D., and Cayan, D.R., 2002, Seasonal and Spatial Patterns in Diurnal Cycles in Streamflow in the Western United States: Journal of Hydrometeorology, v. 3, p. 13.
- McClain, M.E., Boyer, E.W., Dent, L., Gergel, S.E., Grimm, N.B., Groffman, P.M., Hart, S.C., Harvey, J.W., Johnston, C.A., Mayorga, E., McDowell, W.H., and Pinay, G., 2003, Biogeochemical Hot Spots and Hot Moments at the Interface of Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecosystems: Ecosystems, v. 6, p. 12.
- McWhorter, D.B., and Sunada, D.K., 1977, Ground-water hydrology and hydraulics: Highlands Ranch, CO, Water Resources Publication, 290 p.
- Mulholland, P.J., Helton, A.M., Poole, G.C., Hall, R.O.J., Hamilton, S.K., Peterson, B.J., Tank, J.L., Ashkenas, L.R., Cooper, L.W., Dahm, C.N., Dodds, W.K., Findlay, S.E.G., Gregory, S.V., Grimm, N.B., Johnson, S.L., McDowell, W.H., Meyer, J.L., Valett, H.M., Webster, J.R., Arango, C.P., Beaulieu, J.J., Bernot, M.J., Burgin, A.J., Crenshaw, C.L., Johnson, L.T., Niederlehner, B.R., O'Brien, J.M., Potter, J.D., Sheibley, R.W., Sobota, D.J., and Thomas, S.M., 2008, Stream Denitrification Across Bioms and its Response to Anthropogenic Nitrate Loading: Nature, v. 452, p. 5.
- Olson, M.S., Herman, J.S., Sofranko, A.C., and Mills, A.L., 2006, Nitrate Loading as a Function of Stream Discharge along the Eastern Shore of Virginia, Geological Society of America, Annual Meeting, Volume 38: Philadelphia, PA, p. 39.

- Patrick, W.H.J., and Reddy, K.R., 1976, Nitrification-Denitrification Reactions in Flooded Soils and Water Bottoms: Dependence on Oxygen Supply and Ammonium Diffusion: Journal of Environmental Quality, v. 5, p. 4.
- Pinay, G., Roques, L., and Fabre, A., 1993, Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Denirification in a Riparian Forest: The Journal of Applied Ecology, v. 30, p. 11.
- Priestly, C.H.B., and Taylor, R.J., 1972, On the Assessment of Surface Heat Flux and Evaporation Using Large-Scale Parameters: Monthly Weather Review, v. 100, p. 81-92.
- Reddy, K.R., Sacco, P.D., and Graetz, D.A., 1980, Nitrate Reduction in an Organic Soil-Water System: Journal of Environmental Quality, v. 9, p. 6.
- Richards, L.A., 1931, Capillary Conduction of Liquids through Porous Mediums: Physics, v. 1, p. 26.
- Robertson, W.M., Herman, J.S., Mills, A.L., and Hornberger, G.M., 2008, Diurnal Variations in Nitrate Concentrations in the Cobb Mill Creek, Virginia, 2008 Joint Meeting of The Geological Society of America, Soil Science Society of America, American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Gulf Coast Association of Geological Societies with the Gulf Coast Section of SEPM: Houston, TX.
- Sandor, J., Kiss, I., Farkas, O., and Ember, I., 2001, Association Between Gastric Cancer Mortality and Nitrate Content of Drinking Water: Ecological Study on Small Area Inequalities: European Journal of Epidemiology, v. 17, p. 5.
- Scholefield, D., Le Goff, T., Braven, J., Ebdon, L., Long, T., and Butler, M., 2005, Concerted Diurnal Patterns in Riverine Nutrient Concentrations and Physical Conditions: Science of the Total Environment, v. 344, p. 10.
- Scurlock, J.M.O., Asner, G.P., and Gower, S.T., 2001, Global Leaf Area Index Data from Field Measurements, Oak Ridge National Laboratory Distributed Active Archive Center, Oak Ridge, TN, USA.
- Seitzinger, S., 1988, Denitrification in freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems: ecological and geochemical significance: Limnology and Oceanography, v. 33, p. 702-724.
- Smil, V., 1997, Global Population and the Nitrogen Cycle: Scientific American, v. 277, p. 6.
- Smith, P., and Bogren, K., 2003, Determination of Nitrate and/or Nitrite in Brackish or Seawater by Flow Injection Analysis Colorimetry, *in* QuikChem, ed., Methods: Loveland, CO, Lachat Instruments, p. 20.
- Spalding, R., and Exner, M., 1993, Occurence of Nitrate in Groundwater: A Review: Journal of Environmental Quality, v. 22, p. 392-402.
- Stanghellini, C., 1987, Transpiration of Greenhouse Crops: an Aid to Climate Management: Wageningen, The Netherlands, Wageningen.
- Trapp, H.J., and Meisler, H., 1992, The Regional Aquifer System Underlying the Northern Atlantic Coastal Plain in Parts of North Carolina, Virginia, Maryland, Delaware, New Jersey, and New York-Summary, *in* Survey, U.S.G., ed., U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper: Washington D.C., U.S. Geological Survey, p. 33.

- Troxell, H., 1936, The diurnal fluctuations in the ground-water and flow of the Santa Ana river and its meaning: Eos Tansactions of the American Geophysical Union, v. 17, p. 496-504.
- Trudell, M.R., Gillham, R.W., and Cherry, J.A., 1986, An in-situ Study of the Occurence and Rate of Denitrification in a Shallow Unconfined Sand Aquifer: Journal of Hydrology, v. 83, p. 18.
- Ward, M.H., DeKok, T.M., Levallois, P., Brender, J., Gulis, G., Nolan, B.T., and VanDerslice, J., 2005, Workgroup Report: Drinking-Water Nitrate and Health -Recent Findings and Research Needs: Environmental Health Perspectives, v. 113, p. 8.
- Weyer, P.J., Cerhan, J.R., Kross, B.C., Hallberg, G.R., Kantamneni, J., Breuer, G., Jones, M.P., Zheng, W., and Lynch, C.F., 2001, Municipal Drinking Water Nitrate Level and Cancer Risk in Older Women: the Iowa Women's Health Study: Epidemiology, v. 12, p. 12.
- White, W.N., 1932, Method of Estimating Groundwater Supplies Based on Discharge by Plants and Evaporation from Soil - Results of Investigation in Escalante Valley, Utah, *in* Survey, U.S.G., ed., Water Supply Paper: Washington D.C., U.S. Geological Survey, p. 105.
- Wiebe, K., and Gollehon, N., 2006, Agricultural Resources and Environmental Indicators, *in* Initiative, U.E.R., ed.: Washington D.C., USDA.
- Wondzell, S.M., Gooseff, M.N., and McGlynn, B.L., 2007, Flow Velocity and the Hydrologic Behavior of Streams During Baseflow: Geophysical Research Letters, v. 34, p. 5.

#### Appendix A: Land Use in the Cobb Mill Creek Watershed

This appendix contains the processes and results from two different studies of land use within the Cobb Mill Creek watershed. The first study examined the different land use types within the limits of the Cobb Mill Creek watershed using the 2001 National Land Cover Dataset and watershed boundaries created by myself, based upon work performed by John Porter as a part of the delineation of the 17 watersheds of interest in the synoptic survey of the Eastern Shore of VA (Olson et al., 2006). Land use reported took the 15+ available land covers and agglomerated them into "forested", "agricultural", and "other" categories. The "other" category included open water, urban area, and non forested wetland (figure A.1). The study results were that the land cover within the Cobb Mill Creek watershed is ~58% agricultural, 28% forested, 12% urban, and 1% open water.

The second study examined the land use immediately adjacent within a 10 m distance of the stream itself performed by Sarah Glendon (undergraduate research assistant, UVA). She used the 2008 Virginia Base Mapping Program ortho-imagery aerial photography (2 ft resolution) to delineate the stream channel. She created a 10 m buffer around the digitized channel and classified land use within that buffer based upon the aerial photos. The classifications she used were "forested", "agricultural", and "non forested wetland" categories (figure A.2). The 10 m stream buffer drawn contained no urban land use. The study results were that the land cover within the 10 m buffer adjacent to Cobb Mill Creek is ~54% forested, 21% non-forested wetland, and 25% agricultural.





Figure A.1: Land use within the Cobb Mill Creek watershed



Figure A.2: Land use adjacent to Cobb Mill Creek in a 10 m zone around the stream channel.

## **Appendix B: Standard Curves for Streamwater Chemistry Analysis**

# March Ion Chromatography

The standard curve used to calculated the anion concentrations for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, and  $SO_4^{2^-}$  was based upon a sample blank (0 mg/L), 0.5 mg/L, 1 mg/L, 2 mg/L, 5 mg/L, 20 mg/L, and 40 mg/L standards. Each standard was run in triplicate. All three anion standard curves had r<sup>2</sup> values greater than 0.967 with linear fit lines on all three graphs (figures B.1-B.3).



Figure B.1: Standard curve for March Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations; linear fit



Figure B.2: Standard curve for March NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations; linear fit



Figure B.3: Standard curve for March  $SO_4^{2-}$  concentrations; linear fit

# May Ion Chromatography

The standard curve used to calculated the anion concentrations for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, and  $SO_4^{2-}$  was based upon a sample blank (0 mg/L), 0.5 mg/L, 1 mg/L, 2 mg/L, 5 mg/L, 20 mg/L, and 40 mg/L standards. Each standard was run in triplicate. All three anion standard curves had r<sup>2</sup> values greater than 0.975 with linear fit lines on all three graphs (figures B.4-B.6).



Figure B.4: Standard curve for May Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations; linear fit



Figure B.5: Standard curve for May  $NO_3^-$  concentrations; linear fit



Figure B.6: Standard curve for May SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> concentrations; linear fit

#### June and August Ion Chromatography

The standard curve used to calculated the anion concentrations for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, and  $SO_4^{2^-}$  was based upon a sample blank (0 mg/L), 0.5 mg/L, 1 mg/L, 2 mg/L, 5 mg/L, 20 mg/L, and 40 mg/L standards. Each standard was run in triplicate. All three anion standard curves had r<sup>2</sup> values greater than 0.993 with quadratic fit lines on all three graphs (figures B.7-B.9).



Figure B.7: Standard curve for June and August Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations; quadratic fit



Figure B.8: Standard curve for June and August NO3<sup>-</sup> concentrations; quadratic fit



Figure B.9: Standard curve for June and August  $SO_4^{2-}$  concentrations; quadratic fit

#### August Pond Cl<sup>-</sup> using ISE

The standard curve used to calculated the Cl- concentrations for the August pond samples using the ion specific electrode (ISE) was based upon 5 mg/L, 10 mg/L, 20 mg/L, 25 mg/L, 40 mg/L, 50 mg/L, and 100 mg/L standards. The fit curve displayed on the graph below is a linear fit with an  $r^2$  value of 0.880 (figure B.10).



Figure B.10: Standard curve for August Pond Cl- concentrations using ISE, linear fit

# **Dissolved Organic Carbon**

The standard curve used to calculate the dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations was based upon a sample blank (0 mg/L), 1 mg/L, 2 mg/L, 5 mg/L, 10 mg/L, and 20 mg/L standards. Each standard was run in triplicate. The fit curve displayed on the graph below is a linear fit with an r<sup>2</sup> value of 0.995 (figure B.11).



Figure B.11: Standard curve for DOC concentrations; linear fit

## **Appendix C: Streamwater Chemistry Results**

One factor to keep in mind when examining the  $SO_4^{2-}$  anion concentrations in the streamwater at Cobb Mill Creek, is that the highest anion standard for  $SO_4^{2-}$  ran for these samples was at a concentration of 40 mg/L. Because of this, many of the streamwater chemistry results for  $SO_4^{2-}$  anion concentration are estimated values based upon a linear interpolation of the standard curve extended to the sample concentration.

# March 2008 Streamwater Chemistry

During the March 27-29, 2008 sampling campaign, streamwater samples were collected at the hillslope and pond locations at Cobb Mill Creek, VA, using an ISCO automatic sampler at the hillslope location and grab samples at the pond outlet. The grab samples taken at the pond outlet were taken at 06:00, 12:00, and 18:00 daily. Anion concentrations of Cl<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> in the pond grab samples are displayed below (figure C.1). The average Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration in the pond was 21.9 mg/L +/- 0.7 mg/L, the average NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration was 0.8 mg/L +/- 0.06 mg/L, and the average SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> concentration was 40.8 mg/L +/- 3.4 mg/L. At the pond, the streamwater chemistry did not display diurnal variation during this time of expected baseline conditions.



Figure C.1: Grab sample anion concentrations for the pond outlet location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – March 27-29, 2008

Streamwater concentrations of  $SO_4^{2-}$  were also measured during the anion analysis of the hourly ISCO samples from the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek. The  $SO_4^{2-}$  concentrations ranged from ~38.5 to 74.4 mg/L, with an average concentration of 60.1 mg/L (figure C.2).



Figure C.2: Hourly  $SO_4^{2-}$  concentrations in the streamwater from the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – March 27-29, 2008

## May 2008 Streamwater Chemistry

During the May 28-31, 2008 sampling campaign, streamwater samples were collected at the hillslope and pond locations at Cobb Mill Creek, VA, using an ISCO automatic sampler at the hillslope location and grab samples at the pond outlet. The grab samples taken at the pond outlet were taken at 06:00, 12:00, and 18:00 daily. Anion concentrations of Cl<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> in the hillslope hourly samples and pond grab samples are displayed below (figures C.3- C.4). The average Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration in the

pond was 21.9 mg/L +/- 0.7 mg/L, the average NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration was 0.8 mg/L +/- 0.06 mg/L, and the average SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> concentration was 40.8 mg/L +/- 3.4 mg/L. The average Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration in the hillslope was 21.9 mg/L +/- 0.7 mg/L, the average NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration was 0.8 mg/L +/- 0.06 mg/L, and the average SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> concentration was 40.8 mg/L +/- 3.4 mg/L. Just prior to this sampling campaign on the morning of May 28<sup>th</sup>, 2008, there was a significant (~18.5 mm) rainfall event recorded in the Cobb Mill Creek watershed. As a result of this rainfall, the stream and the watershed could not be considered to be under baseflow conditions, therefore the samples which were taken between May 28-31, 2008, were not used within the context of this research.



Figure C.3: Hourly Cl<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater from the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – May 28-31, 2008



Figure C.4: Grab sample Cl<sup>-</sup>,  $NO_3^-$ , and  $SO_4^{2-}$  concentrations in the streamwater from the pond location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – May 28-31, 2008

## June 2008 Streamwater Chemistry

During the June 25-28, 2008 sampling campaign, streamwater samples were collected at the hillslope and culvert locations at Cobb Mill Creek, VA, using an ISCO automatic sampler and grab samples at both locations. The hourly ISCO samples were analyzed for  $SO_4^{2^-}$  anion concentrations at both locations (figure C.5). At the culvert location, the  $SO_4^{2^-}$  concentration ranged from 30.5 mg/L to 74.4 mg/L, with an average concentration of 60.1 mg/L. A diurnal variation of ~15 mg/L is visible with the maximum occurring between 14:00 and 16:00 daily and the minimum occurring between 02:00 and 04:00 daily. At the hillslope location, the  $SO_4^{2^-}$  concentration ranged from 30.4 mg/L to 71.8 mg/L, with an average concentration of 52.8 mg/L. Because of the wide range in standard deviation for the  $SO_4^{2^-}$  concentrations at the hillslope, no clear diurnal pattern can be distinctly identified in these data.



Figure C.5: Hourly  $SO_4^{2-}$  concentrations in the streamwater from the culvert (top) and hillslope (bottom) locations of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 25-28, 2008

Streamwater grab samples were taken from both the culvert and hillslope locations at Cobb Mill Creek and analyzed for DOC concentration. The grab samples were taken at 06:00, 12:00, 18:00, and 00:00. Results for both locations are displayed below (figures C.6-C.7).



Figure C.6: Grab sample DOC concentrations for the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 25-28, 2008



Figure C.7: Grab sample DOC concentrations for the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 25-28, 2008

#### August 2008 Streamwater Chemistry

During the August 20-23, 2008 sampling campaign, streamwater samples were collected at the pond and hillslope locations at Cobb Mill Creek, VA, using ISCO automatic samplers at both locations. Hourly Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations at the pond were measured using an ISE (figure C.8) and anion concentrations for Cl<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> were measured using IC (figure C.9). The Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration as measured by ISE averaged 40.8 mg/L +/- 1.8 mg/L, Cl<sup>-</sup> concentration measured by IC averaged 25.3 mg/L +/- 0.2 mg/L, the NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration averaged 0.07 mg/L +/- 0.0 mg/L, and the SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> concentration averaged 40.3 mg/L +/- 0.8 mg/L.



Figure C.8: ISE measured hourly Cl- concentration in the streamwater at the pond outlet location of Cobb Mill Creek, Va – August 23-25, 2008



Figure C.9: IC measured anion concentrations for the streamwater at the pond outlet location of Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 23-25, 2008
Streamwater concentrations of Cl<sup>-</sup> and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> were also measured during the anion analysis of the hourly ISCO samples from the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek. The Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations ranged from ~20.1 to 22.5 mg/L, with an average concentration of 21.8 mg/L +/- 0.4 mg/L (figure C.10). The SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> concentrations ranged from ~36.9 to 41.9 mg/L, with an average concentration of 40.8 mg/L +/- 0.96 mg/L (figure C.11).



Figure C.10: Hourly Cl<sup>-</sup> concentrations in the streamwater from the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 20-23, 2008



Figure C.11: Hourly  $SO_4^{2-}$  concentrations in the streamwater from the hillslope location at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 20-23, 2008

In addition to the anion chemistry performed during the August 20-23 2008 sampling campaign, both DON and  $NH_4^+$  concentrations were measured at the pond and hillslope locations. All concentrations were negligible (Table C.1).

Table C.1: Table of average DON and  $NH_4^+$  concentrations for samples taken at the pond and hillslope locations at Cobb Mill Creek, VA – August 20-23, 2008

1		<i>,</i>		
Location	DON (mg/L)	Standard Dev	$NH_4^+$ ( $\mu$ M)	Standard Dev
Pond	0.0076	.00056	0.0	n/a
Hillslope	0.0078	0.00071	0.5	n/a

## **Appendix D: Equations used in PET Calculations**

Potential Evapotranspiration (PET) - Priestly-Taylor equation (1972)

$$ET_0 = 1/\lambda * [s(R_{net} - G)/(s + \gamma)] * a$$
 (D.1)

where  $\lambda$  is the latent heat of vaporization (2.45 MJ/kg), R<sub>net</sub> is the net radiation (equation D.3, MJ/m<sup>2</sup> h), G is the soil heat flux (equation D.12, MJ/m<sup>2</sup> h), s is the slope of the saturation vapor pressure-temperature relationship (equation D.2, kPa/ °C),  $\gamma$  is the psychrometric constant (equation D.13, kPa/ °C), and a is the Priestly-Taylor coefficient (1.26, unit-less).

Slope of the saturation vapor pressure-temperature relationship (s) – Stanghellini equation (Stanghellini, 1987)

$$s = 0.04145 * e^{0.06088*T}$$
(D.2)

where T is temperature (measured, °C).

Net radiation  $(R_{net})$  – for Priestly-Taylor equation (1972)

$$\mathbf{R}_{\rm net} = \mathbf{R}_{\rm ns} + \mathbf{R}_{\rm nl} \tag{D.3}$$

where  $R_{ns}$  is the net shortwave radiation (equation D.4, MJ/m<sup>2</sup> h) and  $R_{nl}$  is the net long wave radiation (equation D.5, MJ/m<sup>2</sup> h).

Net shortwave radiation  $(R_{ns})$  – for Priestly-Taylor equation (1972)

$$\mathbf{R}_{\rm ns} = (1 - \alpha) * \mathbf{R}_{\rm solar} \tag{D.4}$$

where  $\alpha$  is the albedo (0.15, unit-less), which was estimated using combined albedo calculations from (Campbell and Norman, 2000) for coniferous and deciduous temperate forest, and R<sub>solar</sub> is the solar radiation (measured, MJ/m<sup>2</sup> h).

Net long wave radiation  $(R_{nl})$  – for the Priestly-Taylor equation (1972)

$$\mathbf{R}_{\rm nl} = \mathbf{R}_{\rm lin} - \mathbf{R}_{\rm lou} \tag{D.5}$$

where  $R_{lin}$  is the incoming long wave radiation (equation D.6, MJ/m<sup>2</sup> h) and  $R_{lout}$  is the outgoing long wave radiation (equation D.7, MJ/m<sup>2</sup> h).

Incoming long wave radiation  $(R_{lin})$  – for the Priestly-Taylor equation

$$\mathbf{R}_{\rm lin} = \varepsilon_{\rm s} * \sigma * T_{\rm k}^{4} * \varepsilon_{\rm at} \tag{D.6}$$

where  $\varepsilon_s$  is the surface emissivity of the forest canopy (0.96 (Campbell and Norman, 2000), unit-less),  $\sigma$  is the Stefan-Boltzmann constant (2.043 \* 10-10 MJ/m<sup>2</sup> K<sup>4</sup> h), T<sub>k</sub> is the absolute temperature (measured, °K), and  $\varepsilon_{at}$  is the atmospheric emissivity (equation D.8, unit-less).

Outgoing long wave radiation (R<sub>lout</sub>) – for the Priestly-Taylor equation

$$\mathbf{R}_{\text{lout}} = \varepsilon_s^* \, \sigma^* \, \mathbf{T}_k^4 \tag{D.7}$$

where  $\varepsilon_s$  is the surface emissivity of the forest canopy (0.96 (Campbell and Norman,

2000), unit-less),  $\sigma$  is the Stefan-Boltzmann constant (2.043 \* 10-10 MJ/m<sup>2</sup> K<sup>4</sup> h), and T<sub>k</sub> is the absolute temperature.

Atmospheric emissivity ( $\varepsilon_{at}$ ) – (Campbell and Norman, 2000)

$$\varepsilon_{at} = (1-F) * 1.72 * (e_a / (T + 237.2))^{1/7} * (1 + 0.22 + C^2) + F$$
(D.8)

where  $e_a$  is the actual vapor pressure (equation D.9, kPa), F is the forest cover correction (0.5 (estimated), unit-less), and C is the cloud cover (0.1(estimated), unit-less).

Actual vapor pressure  $(e_a)$  – for Priestly-Taylor equation (1972)

$$\mathbf{e}_{\mathrm{a}} = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{h} * \mathbf{e}_{\mathrm{s}} \tag{D.9}$$

where  $e_s$  is the saturated vapor pressure (equation D.10, kPa) and Rh is the relative humidity (measured, unit-less).

Saturated Vapor Pressure (e<sub>s</sub>) – to calculate actual vapor pressure

$$\mathbf{e}_{s} = 0.6108 * \mathbf{e}^{[(17.27 * T_{d})/(T_{d} + 237.3)]}$$
(D.10)

113

where  $T_d$  is the dew point temperature (equation D.11, °C).

Dew point temperature  $(T_d)$  – for Priestly-Taylor equation (1972)

$$T_d = T - (100 - Rh)/5$$
 (D.11)

where T is the air temperature (measured, °C) and Rh is the relative humidity (measured, unit-less).

The soil heat flux (G) – for Priestly-Taylor equation (1972)

$$G = KG * R_{net} * e^{-0.5LAI}$$
 (D.12)

where KG is the soil heat flux coefficient (0.4 for night, 1.8 for day, unit-less),  $R_{net}$  is net radiation (equation D.3, MJ/m<sup>2</sup> h), and LAI is the leaf area index (6.00, unit-less), which was taken from (Scurlock et al., 2001) for a mixed temperate forest.

The psychrometric constant ( $\gamma$ ) – Campbell (Campbell and Norman, 2000)

$$\gamma = (C_p * P)/(\varepsilon * \lambda) \tag{D.13}$$

where  $C_p$  is the specific heat of moist air at a constant pressure (0.001013 MJ/kg °C), P is the barometric pressure (measured, kPa),  $\varepsilon$  is the ratio of molecular weight of water to dry air (0.622, unit-less), and  $\lambda$  is the latent heat of vaporization (2.45 MJ/kg).

## **Appendix E: Groundwater Seepage Meter Results**

From June 26-29, 2008, a sampling campaign conducted by Arden Spencer Cox (undergraduate research assistant), Kate Abshire (undergraduate research assistant), Janet Herman, and Wendy Robertson was undertaken to collect groundwater discharge samples from seepage meters placed into the streambed sediments at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek. The seepage meters were 10 cm in diameter with a single outlet ~0.5 cm wide (figure E.1). Latex bladders were attached to the outlet of each meter to collect groundwater discharge. Discharge was monitored every four hours at 18:00, 22:00, 02:00, 06:00, and 10:00, and collected once it reached greater than ~40 mL (*i.e.*, if within four hours, a meter discharged at least 40 mL, the sample was collected for processing. If the meter had not discharged at least 40 mL, the bladder was left on the meter until it did reach the minimum volume necessary). Estimates of discharge volume were recorded from samples collected after 18:00 June 27, 2008. All samples collected were filtered into two 2 mL clear glass IC vials and refrigerated until analysis per the protocol outlined in chapter 2 of this document.



Figure E.1: Depiction of a seepage meter placed into the streambed sediments and collecting groundwater discharge. Modified from Flewelling (2009).

There appeared to be some diurnal variability in the volume of groundwater discharged from the seepage meters during the June 2008 sampling campaign (figure E.2). The daily time when the fewest samples were collected was consistently at 22:00. The daily time when the most samples were collected was between 10:00 and 14:00, but the specific time varied from day to day during the sampling period. This variation in discharge is similar to the diurnal variation in stream discharge recorded at the culvert location in Cobb Mill Creek during the same time period (10:00-14:00 for the maximum discharge, 22:00-02:00 for the minimum discharge).



Figure E.2: Graph of the number of samples collected from the groundwater seepage meters deployed at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – June 26-29, 2008.

Of the twenty three seepage meters deployed during the June 2008 sampling campaign, six meters yielded 8 or more samples and only two meters yielded more than ten samples. The nitrate concentrations of the discharging groundwater collected from these meters ranged from 0 to ~9.5 mg  $NO_3^-$ -N L<sup>-1</sup>. A single meter continually discharged groundwater with no detectable nitrate (6 of 8 samples were below detection, the other two were 0.5 mg/L and 1.9 mg/L). Only one meter displayed any diurnal variability in nitrate concentrations (figure E.3) and it was the meter which yielded the greatest number of samples. Because many of the seepage meters failed to yield a sample large enough for collection within four hours, the nitrate concentrations from these samples are integrated values over 8-16 or more hours and cannot be examined in the context of diurnal variation.



Figure E.3: Graph of the nitrate concentrations from seepage meter #40 deployed at the hillslope location in Cobb Mill Creek, VA – June 26-29, 2008.

## Appendix F: May 2008 Stream Stage and Discharge and Hillslope Water Table Monitoring Results

Stream stage was monitored at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek during the May 28-31, 2008, sampling campaign. Discharge was calculated using the rating curve provided in chapter 3. A rainfall event of ~18.5 mm was recorded in the watershed between the afternoon of May 27<sup>th</sup> to the morning of May 28<sup>th</sup>. Figures F.1-F.2 are the stream stage and discharge values from the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek for the time period between May 28-31, 2008.



Figure F.1: Stream stage measured every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – May 28-31, 2008.



Figure F.2: Stream discharge calculated every 10 minutes at the culvert location of Cobb Mill Creek – May 28-31, 2008.

Three Solinst<sup>™</sup> levelogger pressure transducers were deployed in monitoring wells/piezometers along the hillslope to monitor changes in depth to water table from August 23-November 8, 2008(see chapter two for details). The transducers were deployed in the hilltop monitoring well, N11, and N13 (figure 2.3). The pressure transducer in the hilltop monitoring well measured the water level hourly and the transducers in piezometers N11 and N13 measured the water level very ten minutes. The entirety of the log for each location is presented here (figures F.3, F.5, F.7) as well as a selection of days during the month of September 2008 (September 15-20) when no rainfall was recorded in the watershed (figures F.4, F.6, F.8). These water level logs were corrected for barometric pressure changes but were not set on the absolute scale of meters above sea level because the exact elevations of the wells is not currently known. No distinct pattern is visible in the water levels from either of the upslope installations (hilltop monitoring well, N11), but a diurnal pattern was observed between September 15-20, 2008, in the water level of the N13 installation.



Figure F.3: Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the hilltop monitoring well at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 23-November 8, 2008.



Figure F.4: Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the hilltop monitoring well at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – September 15-20, 2008.



Figure F.5: Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the N11 piezometer at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 23-November 8, 2008.



Figure F.6: Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the N11 piezometer at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – September 15-20, 2008.



Figure F.7: Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the N13 piezometer at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – August 23-November 8, 2008.



Figure F.8: Graph of water level (cm) recorded in the N13 piezometer at the hillslope location of Cobb Mill Creek – September 15-20, 2008.